
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

Website: www.breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - TUESDAY 19TH MARCH 2019 AT 9.30 AM

Venue - NORFOLK & DEREHAM ROOMS, THE 
CONFERENCE SUITE, ELIZABETH 
HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A. M. Webb

This meeting may be filmed, recorded or photographed by the public; 
however, anyone who wishes to do so must inform the Chairman and 
ensure it is done in a non-disruptive and public manner. Please review the 
Council’s guidance on filming and recording meetings available in the 
meeting room.

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Friday, 8 March 2019

Public Document Pack

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk




Cabinet
19 March 2019

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 13
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 5th February 2019

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 
To consider the grants put forward (if any).  

8. Q3 2018-19 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 14 - 44
Report of Executive Member for People and Information, Councillor Alison 
Webb.

9. INVESTMENT STRATEGY & PROSPECTUS 2019-20 45 - 59
Report of Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen, Deputy Leader and Executive 
Member for Corporate Strategy & Investment.

10. NNDR DISCRETIONARY RELIEF 60 - 64
Report of Councillor Phil Cowen the Executive Member for Finance and 
Delivery



Cabinet
19 March 2019

Page(s)
herewith

11. QUARTER 3 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 65 - 75
Report of Councillor Phil Cowen the Executive Member for Finance and 
Delivery

12. CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 76 - 85
Report of Councillor Mark Robinson the Executive Member for Governance

13. RECORDS MANAGEMENT POLICY 86 - 93
Report of Councillor Mark Robinson the Executive Member for Governance

14. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on 21st May 
2019 at 9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 5 February 2019 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr P.J. Duigan
Councillor E. Gould
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Matthew Hogan - Executive Manager Growth
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Phil Mileham - Strategic Planning Manager
Stephen Ottewell - Director Capita Planning & Building Control
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

1/19 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2018 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

2/19 APOLOGIES 

None.

3/19 URGENT BUSINESS 

 (a) Reference from Overview & Scrutiny (31 January)  

The Executive Member for Growth informed Members that the Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission (meeting held 31 January 2019) had asked the 
report be forwarded to Cabinet.  

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
5 February 2019

2

Action By

The proposed amendment had been the subject of detailed discussion 
whereby two specific points had been raised:

 Should the policy be amended in order to enable the parish local 
connection requirement to apply to individual properties and 
associated lettings ‘in perpetuity’ (as opposed to simply apply on 
‘first let’);

 Whether it would be possible to apply a parish local connection 
requirement to all sites in all parishes in the district, regardless of 
whether a neighbourhood plan was in place.

The Executive Member confirmed the amendment would only be for 
additional land for those Parishes with a Neighbourhood Plan and a 
proportion of the affordable houses would be allocated for local people 
within the Parish only.

Councillor Gould asked who would decide how the proportion of affordable 
houses reserved for local people would be used in this way, and how it 
would be managed.

The Executive Manager for Growth said the policy was drafted based on 
evidence provided and a proportion would be ring-fenced for local people 
under a Section 106 agreement. 

The Executive Member for Growth went onto say that the amendment 
would affect a small part of the overall policy.  He was aware there were 
weaknesses within the current Housing Allocations Policy and had asked 
Officers to review the full Policy.

Councillor Crawford raised concern that it would only be offered for those 
Parishes with a Neighbourhood Plan and put those that did not have a plan 
would be at a disadvantage.

The Deputy Leader was pleased the Portfolio Holder had given the 
commitment that the Housing Allocation Policy would commence from 
Spring 2019.  He felt the aim of the Neighbourhood Plan was for Parishes 
to take ownership of their growth.  He felt that the proposed amendment 
was right in that it could encourage other Parishes to create a 
Neighbourhood Plan.  However he felt it should be based on 100% 
allocation of the affordable housing as well as for perpetuity, and should the 
property become vacant then it should be offered back to the district 
housing list as it would be immoral to leave the property vacant.

The Executive Director for Finance and Delivery pointed out to Members 
that the report did not mention a specific allocation figure.

Councillor Jermy felt it important to get the principle correct at this point in 
time as it would be harder to change in the future.  He felt there should be 
the safeguard added that if the property became vacant then it would be 
offered to those with a housing need on the waiting list, rather than the 
property remaining vacant.

Members were informed that ‘perpetuity’ in the legal term meant 125 years, 
and therefore felt different wording was used to apply ‘forever’. 

Councillor Joel expressed his disappointment that it was only available to 
those Parishes who had a Neighbourhood Plan, but would like to see that if 

6



Cabinet
5 February 2019

3

Action By

there was no-one available within the village to fill the property should be 
cascaded to the next neighbouring village.  It was confirmed that this would 
not be the case, and if the property would not be filled by someone with a 
housing need in the Parish, it would be offered to those on the housing 
register.

The Leader clarified that Members wanted the policy amended to reflect 
that 100% of the affordable housing (of additional land for those Parishes 
with a Neighbourhood Plan) be allocated for those within that Parish with a 
housing need for an indefinite period (‘perpetuity’).  Should the property 
become vacant and there was no-one within the parish with a housing 
need, it would be offered to the District wide Housing register.  However, 
should someone then come to the village with a need they would have the 
opportunity to be allocated a property when it became vacant again.  It was 
confirmed that it would be only for those additional houses within the 
parishes with a Neighbourhood Plan.

It was agreed that Housing Officers would review the Housing Policies over 
the coming year.

It was RESOLVED that the proposed amendments to the Council’s Housing 
Allocations Policy (with a view for an amended policy) proceed to public 
consultation during February 2019 be approved, subject to it clarifying that:
100% allocation of affordable housing for any additional housing within the 
Neighbourhood Plan be allocated to those with housing need in the Parish 
for an indefinite period and a full review of the Housing Allocations Policy 
would commence in Spring 2019.

4/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Councillor Crawford declared he was an unpaid trustee of the Charles Burrell 
Centre, Thetford.

5/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, Crawford, Duigan, Gould, Jermy, Joel, Martin, Matthews 
and Wilkinson.

6/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

7/19 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

The Executive Member for Place introduced the three reports together which 
had been put forward by the Norfolk Community Foundation and sought 
Members comments.

Councillor Duigan commended the report on behalf of Dereham Town 
Council to Members informing them that it would provide a modern play area 
to the residents of Toftwood.

Councillor Crawford had worked closely with the Access Community Trust 
who had been a big asset to Thetford.  He had also worked with the 
Horticulture Industry Scheme over the past year which had been a valuable 

7



Cabinet
5 February 2019

4

Action By

scheme and by contributing to the funding would allow the project to grow. 

The Executive Member for Governance added his support to the three 
applications and the wider benefit it would bring to the wider communities.  

Councillor Jermy added that the Access Community Trust had a strong 
reputation within Suffolk and wanted to develop their project within Breckland.  
He had heard at a recent Overview and Scrutiny meeting how homelessness 
had increased in the last 6-months and felt if the project helped a small 
number it would be money well spent.

 (a) Match Funding (large) application - Dereham Town Council  

Reasons for Recommendation
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme and will boost play 
provision in an area of Breckland that suffers from a shortfall of play 
opportunities.

Options
1) Fully fund the application set out in the report
2) Part fund the application set out in the report
3) Do nothing

RESOLVED that the grant of £20,000 (or 10% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to Dereham Town Council to significantly 
expand play provision at the Toftwood Play Area in Limassol Road be 
approved.

 (b) Match Funding (large) application - Access Community Trust  

Reason for Recommendation
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme and will enhance a 
new project that has been successful in gaining lottery funding.

Options
1) Fully fund the application as set out in the report
2) Part fund the application as set out in the report
3) Do nothing.

RESOLVED that the grant of £20,000 (or 20% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to Access Community Trust to establish a 
one-stop support hub based around a community café in Thetford be 
approved.

 (c) Match Funding (large) application - The Horticulture Industry Scheme CIC  

Reasons for Recommendation
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme and will enhance a 
project that has been successful in gaining European Social Fund support.  
The grant will assist a second year of project delivery to take place during 
which time the CIC should be able to progress towards greater 
sustainability by increasing the income derived from its trading activities.  
Because the project is demonstrating progress towards sustainability it is 
judged to be eligible for Breckland Match Funding.

8



Cabinet
5 February 2019

5

Action By

Options
1) Fully fund the application set out in the report
2) Part fund the application set out in the report
3) Do nothing

RESOLVED that the grant of £15,953 (or 30% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to The Horticulture Industry Scheme CIC to 
continue its work with offenders in Thetford.

8/19 BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 2019-20 

The Executive Member for Finance and Delivery gave a detailed report of the 
Council’s budget.  The highlights included: 

 The Government Finance Settlement had been received since the 
report was issued and does not change the figure included within the 
report.

 No reliance on the New Homes Bonus and Revenue Support Grant.
 Norfolk Councils had been successful in being awarded one of the 15 

retained National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 75% pilot scheme for 
2019-20.  This funding would be set aside with 50% into the Growth 
and Investment fund and 50% into the General Fund to help protect 
the Council against short term budget pressures as a result of the Fair 
Funding Review (effective 2020-21).

 Adequate provision had been set aside in case of future Business 
Rates Appeals which would be unknown.

 Council Tax would be set at £88.83 for a Band D property (a £4.95 per 
annum increase on 2018-19 levels).

 The request to increase the establishment by 1.0 FTE which was 
crucial to ensure that the delivery of the growth within the District.

Councillor Joel asked for an update on the Business Rate Relief and if 
businesses could still apply for that provision.  The Executive Director for 
Commercialisation confirmed it would continue in this financial year using the 
tapering system.  

Councillor Borrett spoke as Chairman of the Governance and Audit 
Committee and given the financial stresses Breckland and Local Government 
had faced endorsed the budget; and for the Revenue Support Grant to be 
removed demonstrated that Breckland had managed their finances well.

Reasons for Recommendation
To comply with budgetary and policy framework.

Options
1) Recommendations 1 to 10 are approved.
2) Amendments are made before recommendations 1 to 10 are 

approved.

RESOLVED to RECOMMEND to Full Council that:
1) The Breckland revenue estimates and parish special expenses for 2019-

20 and outlined position through to 2022-23 (as set out in Appendix B and 
E of the report) be approved.

2) The capital estimates and associated funding for 2019-20 and outline 
position through to 2022-23 (as set out in Appendix H of the report) be 

9



Cabinet
5 February 2019

6

Action By

approved.

3) The fees and charges shown at Appendix D and D2, for adoption on 1 
April 2019 be approved.

4) The Council Tax is set at £88.83 for a Band D property in 2019-20 (a 
£4.95 per annum increase on 2018-19 levels).

5) The financial Medium Term Plan and associated staffing full time 
equivalents at Appendix A be approved.

6) The Capital Strategy at Appendix G be approved.

7) The Business Rates relief for retail business premises contained in the 
guidelines at Appendix I of the report be approved (this is offset by a 
Government grant).

8) The additional one off income generated from the 2019-20 75% Business 
Rates Pilot scheme is set aside, 50% in the growth and investment 
reserve to fund future feasibilities and funding applications and 50% to the 
General Fund (as detailed in paragraph 1.10 of the report).

9) To increase the establishment by 1.0 FTE (shared with SHDC at 60% BC 
and 40% SHDC) to create a post that adds capacity to support the Chief 
Executive and Directors at a senior level to move forward a number of 
strategic priorities and helps to identify the key impacts of emerging 
national and local policy on the organisation(s) from a corporate point of 
view, enabling effective mitigation as required (as detailed in paragraph 
1.9 of the report).

10) That the full time equivalent is increased by 5.0 FTE in ARP as agreed at 
ARP Joint Committee on 4 December 2018 (as detailed in paragraph 1.9 
of the report) where the costs are fully offset by additional income and 
shared between the other partners.

9/19 THETFORD ENTERPRISE PARK DELIVERY PLAN 

The Deputy Leader introduced the report explaining that funding of £75,000 
had been made available from the Norfolk Business Rates Pool to support 
the programme of activity to bring about the first development of the Thetford 
Enterprise Park.  It would also be match-funded from Breckland Council’s 
Growth and Investment Fund.  It was highlighted that part of the issue had 
been about the provision of utilities to serve the development site.  By 
investing into the area would show market confidence and allow the site to be 
driven forward.  Thetford was a strategic site and the next phase would be to 
market test what the future development would look like.

Councillor Jermy was in support of the investment but urged the Council that 
as well as the infrastructure requirements, he would like to see come forward 
a marketing and public relations plan. It was a very exciting project but 
unfortunately the negative press coverage had had an impact on public 
relations.  The Leader also expressed his disappointment with the negative 
press and said the Council would do all it could collectively to promote the 
positive impact the TEP would have to the Thetford community and give 
confidence to those backing the project.

10



Cabinet
5 February 2019

7

Action By

Councillor Crawford said the delivery plan was a must not only for Thetford, 
but for Breckland and Norfolk too.  

The Executive Member for Governance also added that the timing was 
perfect in that it would create opportunities for the up and coming generations 
and increase the opportunity for better employment.  Strategically it was an 
important link with the Norwich-Cambridge Tech corridor that affected the 
south of the District.

Reason for Recommendation
The Thetford Enterprise Park (TEP) employment site is on a strategic location 
immediately adjacent to the A11 and at the heart of the Cambridge-Norwich 
Tech Corridor.  With the completion of the TEP access roundabout and the 
starting of schemes to upgrade water and electricity to northern Thetford, it is 
now timely to make progress on remaining TEP site constraints to a point 
where first developments can commence.

Options
1) Accept the £75,000 Norfolk Business Rates Pool funding and allocate 

£75,000 from the Growth and Investment Fund so that the project can 
proceed.

2) Do not accept the £75,000 from the Norfolk Business Rates Pool and 
do not proceed with the project.

RESOLVED that:
1) Cabinet accept £75,000 from the Norfolk Business Rates Pool to 

support the proposed delivery plan and authorised the Executive 
Director Commercialisation in consultation with the Executive Member 
for Corporate Strategy and Investment to approve the terms of the 
grant and enter into the grant agreement, be approved.

2) Match funding of £75,000 from the Growth and Investment Fund in 
pursuit of the proposed delivery plan, be approved.

10/19 NORWICH WESTERN LINK ROUTE OPTIONS CONSULTATION 

The Executive Member for Growth said that he, along with many Members, 
had been lobbied on the consultation from outside the District.  
Norfolk County Council had carried out a public consultation which 
established there had been very strong support for creating a new link 
between the A47 and Broadland Northway (Formerly Northern Distributor 
Road).  Four routes had been suggested and an assessment of these had 
been carried out with two options having greater preferred choice that would 
minimise harm to sensitive environmental assets and make a significant 
contribution to reducing ‘rat-running’ of traffic through rural villages by being 
attractive to users.

Councillor Borrett represented the most eastern ward that included 
Hockering, and also was a member of the Norwich Western Link steering 
group.  He highlighted that the map within the report had been refreshed, and 
Route D had been updated to show a 2-prong option to join the A47.  He 
urged Members that given the local interest to endorse Option D (with the 
Easton prong) which would open up employment land in Easton and would 
also free the congestion currently experienced at the A47-Easton Road 

11



Cabinet
5 February 2019

8

Action By

roundabout.  He added that the Norfolk and Norwich Hospital had also 
suggested Option D as it would help to reduce response times to the north of 
the city.  It was felt that Route C would still encourage rat-running within the 
local villages.

The Strategic Planning Manager added the indicative costs and deliverability 
between Option C and D were similar, and it was noted that there would be 
one less river crossing with Option C.

Reasons for Recommendation
Route options C and D were recommended as these routes provide the 
greatest benefit in transport capacity terms of the options presented when 
considered against the forecast cost.
It is considered that the high forecast traffic carrying capacity indicates that 
options C and D will result in the least amount of traffic using other rural 
routes.  The delivery of the scheme is also of key importance to Breckland 
and it is important that this is highlighted to Norfolk County Council as part of 
the consultation process.

Options
1) Members endorse route options C and D as the preferred routes in its 

response to the Western Link Consultation.
2) Members endorse one of the alternative route options as the basis of 

the Council’s response to the Western Link Consultation. 

RESOLVED that having considered the options, Members preferred to 
support Option D (with the Easton prong) only, based on the benefits to 
transport access from villages in the north-east of the District.

11/19 ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 

The Executive Member for Growth asked Members to note the report.

Councillor Duigan encouraged people to read the report although expressed 
disappointment the report had taken a while to be reported to Committee.  Mr 
Ottewell said the regulations gave flexibility on when the report could be 
published so would aim for it to be sooner next year.
 
Reason for Recommendation
The recommendation has been made in order to comply with the 
requirements of Section 35 of Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
and Section 35 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
Regulations 2012 in regards to the publication of an Authorities Monitoring 
Report.

Options
The Authorities Monitoring report represents a factual update about the 
progress and implementation of the Council’s planning policies.  It is 
recommended that Members consider the report and agree its publication 
and inclusion on the Council’s website.  The alternative option is to not 
publish the report, however the authority would not be compliant with the 
regulations as set out within the report.

RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted and Members agreed for 
the Authorities Monitoring Report to be published on the Council’s website.

12



Cabinet
5 February 2019

9

Action By

12/19 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 

The Executive Member for Place pointed out to Members the announcement 
that had been made by the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) in 
October 2018 that the Universal Support funding to assist new Universal 
Credit customers to make claims would be passed to Citizens Advice and not 
to Local Authorities from April 2019.

A trial was underway within Thetford to work out the practical arrangements 
to understand the communications that would need to be given to the public.  
Universal Credit was not paid quickly therefore it was critical to work out the 
support given to those that needed it.

The Executive Member for Finance and Delivery raised his concern that 
officers were fully trained in dealing with the queries, but the Citizens’ Advice 
offices were very often run by volunteers, and were not always open when 
the public needed support.  

The Deputy Leader asked if there should be a further decision made as to 
whether additional funding should be provided in order for the Local Authority 
to continue to provide advice alongside Citizens Advice, and therefore 
residents could have a choice of who to ask for help.

The Leader requested for further information to understand fully the impact of 
the loss of finance and what the Council could do to mitigate the loss to 
ensure those that needed advice were able to access it.

The minutes of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership held on the 4 
December 2018 were noted.

13/19 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday 19 March 2019 at 
9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham were 
noted.

14/19 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

15/19 ALLOCATION OF GROWTH & INVESTMENT FUNDING 

Members were asked to approve the allocation of funding from the Growth & 
Investment reserve and authorise the Executive Director of 
Commercialisation in consultation with the Deputy Leader to undertake option 
2.1.

RESOLVED that Option 2.1 be approved.

The meeting closed at 11.35 am

CHAIRMAN

13



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Alison Webb - Executive Member for People and 
Information

To: Cabinet – 19th March 2019

Author: Ross Bangs – Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 3 2018/19 

Purpose: To provide members of the Cabinet with an overview of the Council’s 
performance for the period 1st October 2018 – 31st December 2018

1. BACKGROUND

The Quarter 3 2018-19 Performance Report detailed in Appendix A aims to provide 
Members, businesses and residents with an overview of how the Council is performing 
against a number of key strategic indicators. These indicators include the delivery of 
frontline services, financial performance and progress made towards achieving the 
overarching aims an objectives of the Council as set out in the Corporate Plan.   

In addition the covering report will highlight areas of improved and high performance 
and also where performance is challenging. Where this is the case the report will 
summarise what officers are doing to address this.  

The report and attached appendix has been to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on 31st January 2019 the comments and feedback of which has been reflected within 
this cabinet report. 

1.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Recommendation

1)  Members are asked to note the content of the report

14

Agenda Item 8



1.3 Performance is reported using the RAG system with green demonstrating where an 
indicator is on or above target, amber where the indicator is below target but showing 
an upward trend and red where an indicator is below target. 

Of the 15 indicators the below table shows a slight reduction in the Q3 performance 
when compared with the previous quarter.

Quarter 3 18/19 Quarter 2 18/19
3 (20%) 2 (13%)
6 (40%) 6 (40%)
6 (40%) 7 (47%)

2. AREAS OF SUCCESS

2.1 The total value of grant funding received by the Council has increased within Q3 with 
nearly £14,000 being awarded to the following community groups across the district. 

 Elsing Parish Council
 Wretham Village Hall
 Bradenham Parish Council
 All Saints Church, Shipdham
 Shropham Bowls Club

This means that up to the end of Q3 in this financial year, a total of £82,889 has been 
awarded to community groups within Breckland. In addition a further £68,583 has been 
awarded awaiting member decision which will be reported within Q4. 

2.2 The Breckland Lottery continues to perform strongly with £22,918.20 being generated 
for good causes since the lottery launched in March up to the end of December 18. In 
addition ticket sales continue to increase with 1200 tickets being purchased each week. 

2.3 The number of complaints responded to within timescale continues to improve, with 
Q3 returning the highest level of performance recorded for this indicator. Within this 
period 90% of all customer complaints were responded to within 15 working days 
demonstrating an increase from 82% when compared with Q2. 

2.4 Performance relating to missed waste collections has improved significantly with just 
6 collections per every 100,000 missed within Quarter 3 a reduction of 13 missed 
collections per 100,000 when compared with Quarter 2. Within this period the Council 
made a total in excess of 800,000 collections. 

2.5 The total number of visitors to the Council’s website continues to increase month on 
month; this can be attributed to the Council’s digital engagement programme which 
further supports the Council’s approved digital strategy. Other initiatives such as 
Shop’Appy and Breckworld further demonstrate the Council’s digital ambitions which 
compliment more traditional means of customer interaction. There were over 80,000 
individual visits to the website in Q3 18/19 an increase of nearly 100% when compared 
with the same period last year. In addition there was a reduction of 7000 calls received 
in the contact centre for Q3 when compared with Q2 further supporting the channel 
shift which we are experiencing as more people chose online services to interact with 
the council. 

15



2.6 Although slightly below target, performance relating to the number of Freedom of 
Information enquires being responded to within the statutory timescale continues to 
improve with 86% of all enquires being responded to within 20 working days. Members 
are asked to note the reduction of overall enquires being made to the Council with a 
76 being made within Q3, a reduction of 51 from the previous quarter. This reduction 
can be attributed to the digitalisation of the feedback service and introduction of newly 
adopted Business Partner approach within the Corporate Improvement Team. This 
reduction in enquiries will result in increased capacity within the services.   

2.7 The indicator relating to net business rate collection continues to perform strongly 
showing a sum of £973,721 above target for Q3 and an increase of £2,765,596 when 
compared with the same period for 17/18. 

3.0 AREAS REQUIRING IMPROVEMENT 

3.1 Incidents of Fly Tipping, although not a targeted indicator, members are asked to note 
the increase in the number of fly tipping incidents which have been reported in the last 
period, 253 in Q3, an increase of 63 from the same period last year. This correlates 
directly in an increase in waste which has been recovered 83 tonnes in Q3 18/19 
compared with 60 tonnes for Q3 17/18. The Environmental Services are aware and 
have recently implemented a new digital reporting function which allows the service to 
remove the fly tip quicker therefore reducing the impact and preventing the risk of 
additional fly tips. In addition the team are in the process of recruiting a new 
enforcement officer whose role it will be to take positive enforcement action on anyone 
found fly tipping within the District. 

3.2 EHT+C Gross Income is under target for this quarter with the overall predicted outturn 
for the service currently forecasting a deficit of £10k against target. The team are 
exploring new and innovative means of marketing and have recently refreshed their 
website. This is supported by Search Engine Optimisation which the team hope will 
grow and enhance their online presence. In addition the team have identified a number 
of leads which they will be target marketing throughout Q4 

3.3 Staff turnover is currently showing as being below target with a total of 17 officers 
leaving the Council within Q3 equating to 5.4% of the paid establishment against a 
target of 4.3%. HR have suggested that they do not have any concerns at this time and 
that these figures are comparable with other local Councils. With the introduction of 
the proposed workforce strategy and ongoing improvements around recruitment it is 
forecasted that we will report an improvement to staff retention and turnover as we 
move into Q4. 

3.4 There has been a dip in the indicator which measures staff sickness with 622 days lost 
through sickness in Q3 equating to 2.3 days per employee based on a total headcount 
of 268. By comparison there was a total of 1.7 sickness days lost per employee when 
compared with the same period last year. The data suggests that sickness was 
particularly high in October causing this indicator to underperform. HR are monitoring 
this measure closely and with the continued introduction of the wellbeing agenda it is 
forecasted that we will experience an improvement in this indicator as we move into 
Q4. 

3.5 There has been a reduction in performance relating to Major Planning Determination 
times within Q3 with 53% of determinations being made within timescale or within an 
agreed extension against 86% in quarter 2. This reduction can be attributed to the 
period around Christmas where only 1 of the five determinations was made within the 

16



required timescale as a result of a number of the statutory consultees being unavailable 
due to the time of the year. This matter has been addresses as part of the ongoing 
programme of contract monitoring work with Capita with an increase in performance 
relating to this indicator being forecasted for Q4.  

 

4.0 Additional Points

4.1 None

5.0 Options

5.1 Note the content of the report

5.2 Do nothing

6.0 Expected Benefits

6.1 The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team will use the content of this report 
to identify areas of improvement. 

7.0 Implications 

7.1      Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

7.2   Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of             
the author that there are no implications. 

7.3      Constitutional and Legal

7.4   Constitutional and Legal issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the 
author that there are no implications. 

7.5      Contracts

7.6 Contracts issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the report author that 
there are no implications. 

7.7      Wards/Communities affected

7.8 No wards or communities are affected. 

7.9    Acronyms

7.10 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ross Bangs – Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager
Telephone Number: 07870835233
Email: ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

17

file://bcf01.intranet.breckland.gov.uk/corporate_improvement_performance/Performance/Reports/BDC%20OSC%20Cabinet/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Ross bangs – Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Quarter 3 Performance Report

18



1

Q3 2018/19 BDC Overview and Scrutiny Report

Generated on: 14 January 2019

Indicator Value of Grants Trend Chart

The total amount of 
grant money that has 
been awarded via the 
community 
development team

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A £13,699.00

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

Data Only 

 

Higher is better as we look to award 
more grants

A total of £13699 of community funding has been 
granted in Q3 bringing the total for this financial year to  
£82,889

.

19



2

Indicator Breckland Lottery (Value awarded) Trend Chart

The overall amount of 
money that has been 
awarded via the 
Breckland lottery  

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A £22,918.20

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

 Data Only

 

 Higher is better as we look to award 
more via the Breckland Lottery

£22,918.20 has been generated for community 'good 
causes' to the end of the third quarter of 2018/19, since 
the Lottery launched on March 30th 2018.

Candour Marketing agency has just completed the 
commissioned 4 month online Marketing campaign and 
we are currently awaiting the outcome of this.

Weekly ticket sales continue to increase (currently 1165 
per week are being sold) and current projected revenue 
of the Lottery is £60580 per year, whilst projected 
income for community good causes is £36348 per year. 

20



3

Indicator % of FOI requests responded to within the time limit Trend Chart

Of the FOI's 
responded to in the 
month, the 
percentage of ones 
that were responded 
to within the statutory 
20 day timescale

 

Same time last year

No. responded  to 
within timescale

No. due in Quarter Value

Q3 2017/18 103 127 81%

Current Performance Q3

No. responded to 
within timescale

No. due in Quarter Value

Q3 2018/19 65 76 86%

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

90%

 

A higher % is better as we look to 
answer more FOI's in the 20 day 
timescale

Performance relating to the number of FOI responses 
being made within timescale continues to improve and 
can be attributed to the engagement work being 
undertaken by the CIP team. Most notable is the 
reduction of FOI enquiries being made with 76 received 
in Q3 18/19 compared with 127 in the same period last 
year. 

21



4

Indicator % of complaints responded to within agreed timescales Trend Chart

Of the complaints 
responded to in the 
period, the 
percentage of ones 
that were responded 
to within the agreed 
timescale

 

Same time last year

Complaints in 
Timescale

Complaints Closed 
in Period

Value

Q3 2017/18 23 40 57.5%

Current Performance Q3

Complaints in 
Timescale

Complaints Closed 
in Period

Value

Q3 2018/19 90 101 89.11%

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

90%

 

 Higher is better as we look to 
respond to all complaints within the 
agreed timescales by the authority

Slightly under target but the highest response rates for 
the year as the CIP team have continues to focus efforts 
on the services in relation to defining corporate 
complaints and ensuring such complaints are responded 
too in the most effective and efficient ways, further work 
has been done on the website to ensure residents 
making a complaint are directed to the right areas

22



5

Indicator Number of Vexatious Customer Registrations Trend Chart

This Performance 
measure monitors the 
number of customers 
who have been made 
vexatious in the time 
period.
The vexatious 
application is 
managed via the 
Corporate Complaints 
team and the Legal 
team.

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A 0

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   
 Data Only

 
 N/A There have been no vexatious customer registrations in 

Q3

23



6

Indicator % of Calls Abandoned Trend Chart

% of calls that are 
answered by an 
appropriate member 
of staff from the total 
of calls offered 

 

Same time last year

# Calls Abandoned # Calls Received Value

Q3 2017/18 4,992 30,108 16.58%

Current Performance Q3

# Calls Abandoned # Calls Received Value

Q3 2018/19 3,759 27,406 13.72%

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

10.1%

 

A lower % is better as we look to 
answer more calls  

Q3 saw a large reduction in the number of calls 
abandoned as well as the number of calls received, there 
has been a reduction of nearly 7,000 calls since Q2 as 
we continue to focus on the digital channel shift and 
promoting our services via more digital means (e.g. 
webchat) in order to ensure more effective handling of 
resolution management. It is also pleasing to note the 
abandonment rate has significantly reduced since this 
period last year. As of Jan the service will be back to full 
capacity in terms of staff and forecasting anticipates the 
abandonment rate to be on target and green by 
Feb/March.

24



7

Indicator Individual website visitors Trend Chart

Number of visitors to 
the Council's website

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A 46,475

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A 82,187

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

 Data Only

 

A higher number is better as we look 
to get more people accessing the 
website

The number of website visitors continues to rise which is 
a positive reflection of the digital engagement work 
underway which has also seen traditional contact 
channels such as calls and face to face visits drop. The 
Q3 period is the highest number of website visits so far 
which is positive to report. This has been largely 
attributed to December where the launch of the 
Breckland newsletter service to residents has resulted in 
a rise of around 20% in website visitors.

25



8

Indicator % of household waste recycled or composted Trend Chart

% of household waste 
which has been 
recycled and 
composted (includes 
garden waste) against 
all the household 
waste collected

 

Same time last year

Recycle/Compost 
Tonnage

Total Waste 
Collected Tonnage

Value

Q3 2017/18 4481.67 11324.77 39.06%

Current Performance Q3

Recycle/Compost 
Tonnage

Total Waste 
Collected Tonnage

Value

Q3 2018/19 4396.58 11593.57 37.78%

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

39.7%

 

A higher % is better as we look to 
recycle or compost more waste  

The % of household waste composted or recycled 
remains at a good level, although slightly under target 
there are no significant concerns, the environmental 
services and community teams continue to promote 
garden waste a recycling where possible.

26



9

Indicator Flytipping - tonnes Trend Chart

Estimated tonnage of 
Waste collected from 
fly tipping 

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A 60.00 tonnes

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A 82.95 tonnes

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

 Data Only

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce 
the fly tipping tonnage collected

Figures based on estimated tonnage show an increased 
amount of tonnage collected for this period when 
compared to last year and this also reflects in the 
number of fly tipping cases reported which has 
increased by around 60

27



10

Indicator Missed Waste Collections Trend Chart

Number of missed 
waste collections per 
100,000 households

 

Same time last year

Number of missed 
collections

Num of collections 
per 100,000

Value

Q3 2017/18 40 2.563 16

Current Performance Q3

Number of missed 
collections

Num of collections 
per 100,000

Value

Q3 2018/19 17.333 2.667 6

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

15

 

A lower number is better as we look 
to ensure fewer waste collections are 
missed 

Pleasing to report that the number of missed waste 
collections per 100,000 households is performing well 
and has dropped significantly from 19 in Q2 to the 
current scores. There were only 17 missed bins in total 
for the whole period.

28



11

Indicator Number of Incidents of Fly Tipping Trend Chart

Number of reported 
fly tipping incidents 
collected by Serco

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A 190

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A 253

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

 

  

Data Only 

 

Lower is better There has been an increase in the number of reported 
flytipping incidents when compared with the same 
period last year. This is consistent with the total tonnage 
which is being collected. 

29



12

Indicator Number of Garden waste subscribers Trend Chart

Total # of subscribers 
to garden waste for 
the month  

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A 22,468

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A 21,017

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

Data Only 

 

 Higher is better as we look to have as 
many subscribers as possible

No significant change to report in the number of garden 
waste subscribers for this quarter. The service will be 
looking at ways to increase numbers of subscribers and 
explore further income generation from this scheme.

30



13

Indicator Gross income generated by EHT&C Trend Chart

The amount of gross 
income generated by 
the Environmental 
Health, Training and 
consultancy 
commercial trading 
arm

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A £60,000.00

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

£78,750.00

 

Higher is better as we look to 
generate more income from our 
environmental health training and 
consultancy department

Figures contain orders which have been invoiced, plus 
existing orders. The overall predicted out turn for Q3 
will be around £10k under target.
The team are working on a number of pieces of work 
which include the refresh of the website which targets 
the EHTC website to go live early February.
Also will be looking at Search Engine Optimisation 
improvements (to improve on-line visibility and 
conversion rates).
Additionally there will be revised and specific targets 
and objectives re-issued to teams.
The EHTC Marketing plan will also be revised to focus on 
certain products and target customers.

31



14

Indicator Food Businesses Rated 'Generally Satisfactory' or Above Trend Chart

The % of rateable 
food businesses with 
a rating of 3 
(generally 
satisfactory), 4 (good) 
or 5 (very good) as a 
% of the total number 
of rateable businesses

 

Same time last year

Number rated 3,4 
or 5

Total number of 
food businesses

Value

Q3 2017/18 1,163 1,205 96.51%

Current Performance Q3

Number rated 3,4 
or 5

Total number of 
food businesses

Value

Q3 2018/19 1,406 1,471 95.58%

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

95%

 

Higher is better as we look to have 
more businesses with a good or above 
food rating

As of Q3 there are only 65 Food businesses with a 
Rating of 2 or lower, with all of these cases intervention 
action will be taking place and our services will be 
offered including our Environmental health and Food 
safety consultancy services. For Businesses rated 0, an 
intervention will be received within 1 month, businesses 
rated 1 or 2 will receive an intervention within 2 months.

32



15

Indicator Staff turnover % Trend Chart

% of total leavers 
against total number 
of staff employed in 
period (includes 
involuntary leavers)
  Target is 10% which 
has been 
benchmarked

 

Same time last year

Number of Leavers Number of 
Employees

Value

Q3 2017/18 12 276 4.3%

Current Performance Q3

Number of Leavers Number of 
Employees

Value

Q3 2018/19 17 317 5.4%

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

4.3%

 

Lower is better as we look to retain 
staff 

Staff turnover is slightly above target with 17 officers 
leaving the Council in Q3 representing 5.4% of the paid 
establishment. This is comparable with other local 
Councils. With the intended implementation of the 
workforce strategy it is forecasted that this figure will 
improve as we move into Q4. 

Indicator # of Working Days Lost to Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

33



16

Number of working 
days lost per full time 
equivalent

 

Same time last year

Working Days lost 
to sickness

Headcount Value

Q3 2017/18 438 276 1.73

Current Performance Q3

Working Days lost 
to sickness

Headcount Value

Q3 2018/19 622 268 2.32

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

2.01

 

Lower is better as we look to have less 
time lost to sickness per full time 
equivalent

Incidents of sickness is typically higher in the winter 
when compared to the summer period. We have issued 
the flu jab and closely monitor absence according to the 
new absence management guidelines to ensure short 
term absence is managed effectively and managers have 
all recently received training on this. 

34



17

Indicator # of Cases Prevented from Homelessness Trend Chart

Number of cases 
prevented from 
homelessness  

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A 45

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

Data Only 

Th
e  

 N/A Continued increased demand on the Housing Service has 
resulted in less time to prevent and many people going 
straight into the relief duty which service is not currently 
reporting on. Therefore prevention figure is lower.
Reduction also due to legislation changes - Prevention 
period has increased to a 56 days period and therefore 
allows longer prevention time for the Housing Options 
team. If unable to prevent they will move into Relief duty 
which is a key indicator and going forward the service 
will need to look at the relevance of what is being 
reported and whether we make some adjustments inline 
with new legislation.

35



18

Indicator Breckland Empty Commercial Properties (Not in use) Trend Chart

Number of NDR 
Empty commercial 
properties at the 
defined time period 
(No business rates 
will be received on 
these properties 
whilst vacant)

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A 224

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

 Data Only

 

Lower is better as we look to have as 
few empty commercial properties as 
we can in order to increase the 
amount of business rates collected as 
well as boost the districts economy

Data only figure provided by benefits department based 
on the number of empty commercial properties.

36



19

Indicator Breckland Empty Homes Trend Chart

Number of Empty 
homes within the 
district at the defined 
time period  

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A 467

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

Data Only 

 

Lower is better as we look to have as 
few empty homes as possible

Historically this indicator has been populated by the 
number of properties liable to pay Council Tax as 
oppose to the number of long term empty properties 
which have been brought back into use by direct officer 
intervention. This is what this indicator will report on 
from 1st April 2019 as agreed by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  

37



20

Indicator % of Major applications determined within 13 weeks or agreed extension Trend Chart

% determined within 
13 weeks (or with 
agreed extension) 
 
Contractual target is 
50% 

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A 91.67%

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A 53.33%

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

90%

 

Higher is better as we look to get 
more applications agreed in timescale

Of the 5 applications determined in December none 
were completed within 13 weeks and only one had a 
valid Extension of Time agreement at the date of 
decision hence 20% which is what has reduced the 
overall score for this quarter.  However, this 
performance measure is based on achieving more than 
60% over a rolling two year period and for this we are at 
79%.  Most were delayed as a result of ongoing S106 
negotiations and resolution of highways issues

38



21

Indicator % of Minor applications determined within 8 weeks or agreed extension Trend Chart

% determined within 8 
weeks (or with agreed 
extension) 

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A 96.43%

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A 81%

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

70%

 

Higher is better as we look to get 
more applications agreed in timescale

This quarter’s performance is 81% which as dropped 
from last quarter at 88%.  However, the performance 
measures overall target is based on achieving >70% over 
a rolling two year period and for this we are at 92%.  
Most were delayed as a result of re-consultation on 
amended plans, or as a direct result of the backlog that 
had built up within the validation team (this has since 
been reduced and we are working now on applications 
received in the last 2 days)

39



22

Indicator Housing Benefit LA Error Rate Trend Chart

Local Authority error 
in Housing Benefit 
overpayment Amount 
of benefits overpaid 
divided by benefits 
paid (% of overall 
expenditure)  

 

Same time last year

Error expenditure Total housing 
benefit 
expenditure

Value

Q3 2017/18 58,464.04 23,548,728.19 0.25%

Current Performance Q3

Error expenditure Total housing 
benefit 
expenditure

Value

Q3 2018/19 40,378.29 19,707,260.63 0.20%

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

0.35%

 

Lower is better as we look to minimise 
the amount of money paid in error 
and reduce the risk of financial 
penalty (which occurs above 0.48%)  

Housing Benefit LA error rate remains at the same score 
as last quarter but we are continuing to see the error 
rate reduce and this figure remains on target for the 
year.

40



23

Indicator Net Business Rates receipts Trend Chart

Actual revenue 
collected in respect of 
Business Rates 
against budget 

 

Same time last year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable 
debit

Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A £26094856

Current Performance Q3

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable 
debit

Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A £28860184

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

£27886463

 

Higher is better as we look to collect 
as much of the business rates debit as 
possible 

The amount of net business rates collected remains 
above budget targets and continues to perform well.

41



24

Indicator Net Council Tax receipts Trend Chart

Actual revenue 
collected in respect of 
Council Tax against 
the amount which the 
authority has 
budgeted  

 

Same time last year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable 
debit

Value

Q3 2017/18 £58013510

Current Performance Q3

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable 
debit

Value

Q3 2018/19 £62159365

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

£61806351

 

Higher is better as we look to collect 
as much of the Council Tax debit as 
possible  

The amount of net council tax collected remains above 
budget targets and continues to perform well.

42



25

Indicator Commercial Property Occupancy Trend Chart

Target is to achieve 
90% occupancy level 
of the Council's 
commercial property 
(investment, non-
operational) assets 
which excludes 
operational assets 
Calculated by total 
floor space let over 
the total lettable 
space.  

 

Same time last year

Total floor space 
let (sq.ft)

Total lettable 
space (sq.ft.)

Value

Q3 2017/18 570,570.333 634,805.667 90%

Current Performance Q3

Total floor space 
let (sq.ft)

Total lettable 
space (sq.ft.)

Value

Q3 2018/19 579,585.667 637,260 91%

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

98%

 

A higher number is better as we look 
to rent out as much of the commercial 
property space as possible and 
increase income  

The Commercial Property occupancy remains lower than 
previously reported last year primarily due to the Kings 
Lynn investment asset (ex Jaeger unit) remaining void.  
This one asset represents 7%.  We are actively promoting 
and marketing all of our vacant properties to minimise 
void periods. It is important to note last year’s target 
was 90% whilst this years is 98%

43



26

Indicator Commercial Property Gross Rental Income Trend Chart

This is the total gross 
rental income that is 
forecast to be 
achieved from the 
Commercial Property 
assets including 
Riverside and 
Barnham Broom.
 

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2017/18 N/A N/A £2,095,136.00

Current Performance Q3

Numerator Denominator Value

Q3 2018/19 N/A N/A £2,084,393.00

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

£2,122,233.44

 

Higher is better as we look to increase 
our income from assets

Commercial property occupancy is currently at 91% 
against a target of 98% however the average net yield 
estimated based on rental income expected for 18/19 as 
well as capital values remains above target for our 
commercial property portfolio as of the start of the year.

 

44



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen, Executive Member Corporate Strategy and 
Investment

To: Cabinet – 19th March 2019

(Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation and Growth)

Subject: Investment Prospectus for Breckland and Investment Strategy

Purpose: To propose to Members an Invest in Breckland Prospectus and a refreshed 
investment strategy.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Invest in Breckland Prospectus at Appendix A is approved and delegated Authority 
given to the Director of Commercialisation and Growth in consultation with the Executive 
Member – Corporate Strategy and Investment to make any final amendments.
 

2) That the refreshed Investment Strategy at Appendix B is approved.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1   With the Local Plan moving towards adoption, the successful emergence of the 
Cambridge to Norwich Tech Corridor and plans for further dualling of the A47 it is an 
extremely promising time for the Breckland economy and one that provides a significant  
future opportunity for investment by the Council, to help support and drive this growth 
forward. This key document aims to sit within a suite of supporting documentation setting 
out the vision for the area including the Local Economic Partnerships Economic Strategy, 
Local Investment Strategy and the approach to the Cambridge and Norwich Technology 
corridor.

1.2   The increased focus on business rates, the most significant income source for the Council 
and the benefits of employment growth to the locality by improving business opportunities, 
employment levels and enhancing skills are significant. In addition there have been other 
notable changes to the investment environment and there is an increased interest by 
private and public sector investors in investment assets of a certain type, this has 
increased purchase values and decreased yields in auction or sale scenarios. 

1.3 With the embedding of the delivery unit and the development of a matrix working 
approach across the Growth and Commercialisation directorate and other directorates, 
key internal partners such as Capita and external partners such major landowners, 
businesses and developers the Council is now well placed to take this area of work to the 
next level with the development of an Investment Prospectus for Breckland.

1.4 The Invest in Breckland Prospectus at Appendix A to this report, being proposed for 
members consideration, seeks to clearly articulate to interested parties the opportunity 
within Breckland, the sites that are available future development plans and the support 
available. The Local Business Rates Scheme, also on this agenda, aims to run alongside 
this prospectus to ensure that the Council can compete on equal footing with the well-
established enterprise zones already in place in Norfolk.

45

Agenda Item 9



  
1.5   Supporting this strategy the Council has a strong track record in achieving significant 

grant funding for Breckland with the Snetterton Employment Land Power project and the 
Thetford Housing Infrastructure Funding (HIF) project at the forefront of this at this current 
time. Pump-priming funding has also been achieved for Thetford TEP, the development of 
a strategy around Innovation to support local businesses and introduce new businesses to 
the area. In addition the Council has committed its own funding to take forward the 
development of a strategy for Snetterton Heath. All of this work provides a strong bedrock 
to give confidence to the market, particularly businesses as to the deliverability and 
availability of sites in Breckland.
 

1.6 From a direct investment point of the view Council has also been proactive in directly 
investing in local commercial stock with the recent acquisition of units at Swaffham that 
are now fully let and proving a successful addition to the economic area. Further similar 
opportunities to enhance the business offer are now being taken forward and considered 
as part of the process of unlocking sites, providing confidence in the deliverability of sites 
as well as providing a commercial return for the Council. A recent land acquisition has 
also supported this strategy and approach. Through this approach the assistance to 
businesses, landowners and commercial site owners will be significantly enhanced 
through the introduction of a cross-cutting support service by the Council to businesses, 
involving the Growth team, Delivery Unit and Capita. Other potential partners are now 
engaging at a senior level with regards to opportunities for being involved in this agenda.

1.7         There is no doubt that this is an extensive and considerable commitment by the Council 
and the aim of this new Invest in Breckland Prospectus is to provide a shop front for the 
place and the opportunity associated with moving or growing your business within the 
district. This will help generate further confidence in the Breckland Economy and the 
Councils commitment to supporting its development through positive and significant 
intervention – e.g. the two power projects in Snetterton and Thetford, direct investment 
and through supporting businesses to relocate or grow and to provide the necessary 
support to make this a positive process.

Refreshed Investment Strategy

1.8         The purpose of the refreshed investment strategy at Appendix B is to align more clearly 
with the prospectus and to set the context within which the Council will invest its reserves, 
balances and funds.  By creating this as an adopted strategy the Council sets a clear 
direction and focus for its investment activity.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1   That the Invest in Breckland Prospectus and Refreshed Investment Strategy are   
        approved.  

2.2         That the Prospectus and Investment Strategy are not approved. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To provide a clear direction of travel for the Councils economy, to assist in driving growth 
in Breckland and to maximise the Council’s return on its investments and to provide a 
clear focus for resource, grant funding and investment activity.

46



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 By creating the Invest in Breckland Prospectus and refreshing the Investment Strategy the 
Council sets a clear direction and focus for its investment activity. It gives a very clear 
statement to businesses and partners that it is ‘Open for Business’ and prepared to work 
effectively to drive growth in the locality.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 The refocusing of resources will support budget to deliver Council priorities over the   
            Medium term.

5.2 Risk Management 

5.2.1 Appropriate risk management processes will be utilised as and when individual projects 
come forward for consideration.

5.3 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.3.1 Strategic Property and Financial Services have been consulted and recognise how this 
Prospectus will support growth in Breckland.  In addition business partners are very 
supportive of the framework that this work offers and that it will improve engagement with 
the Council to provide a clear direction of travel.

5.4 Transformation Programme

5.4.1 The current investment fund and growth fund balances are contributing to the Moving 
Forward transformation target.  Any additional return from the balance re-allocation in this 
report will deliver additional benefits and income to the Council.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 These are included in the body of the report.

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation
Telephone Number: 01362 656324

47

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Email: christine.marshall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Breckland Prospectus
Appendix B Investment Strategy 

48



investinbreckland.co.uk  |  hello@investinbreckland.co.uk

Discover why Breckland is the place  
to grow your business in Norfolk

49



02   Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business   03

Breckland offers all these benefits. 

Breckland is the heartland of the East of England, which is one of the UK’s 
most dynamic regions1. We are ideally located for Norwich, Cambridge and 
Ipswich, three of the UK’s 10 fastest growing urban areas2. Here you will find 
space to grow, good links to national and international markets, a talented 
workforce – and an enviable quality of life.

Our region combines an attractive rural landscape with elegant market 
towns and thriving business communities. We’re home to fast growing 
enterprises at the cutting edge of manufacturing, engineering and 
technology. Many of them operate along the rapidly developing 100km 
Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor, which runs right through our district.

Breckland council actively invests in infrastructure and facilities that support 
enterprise and improve residents’ lives. We take a pro-business attitude 
to planning and driving economic growth. Read on to discover more 
opportunities in Breckland – or contact our InvestBreckland team today at 
investbreckland.org. 

We look forward to helping you succeed here. 

William Nunn
Leader, Breckland Council

In Breckland, your business can benefit from:

1. Affordable space for your development, thanks to competitive 
land prices and a positive planning environment

2. Support from commercially minded councillors and officers 
who are ‘Open for Business’

3. Easy access to world-class science and technology research 
centres in Norwich, Cambridge and Ipswich, all less than 
2-hours from London

4. Opportunities to export to international markets via Norwich 
International Airport, London Stansted Airport, and Port of 
Felixstowe, the United Kingdom’s busiest container port

5. Networking across the East of England – one of the UK’s 
fastest growing regions1

6. Living in an area renowned for its natural beauty – with low 
crime rates, good schools, clean air, and a rich culture of 
history, arts, and sports, as well as delicious local food

7.  Innovation in the dynamic Cambridge Norwich Tech 
Corridor, with its related clusters of advanced manufacturing 
and engineering companies.

Key facts about the East of England (EoE)1

 Second fastest growing UK region in 
2017 (real gross value added up 2.5% 
year on year)

 Home to 9.3% of the UK’s population
 Generates 8.4% of GDP 
 Third highest GDP per person in the 

UK at around £21,500
 One of the lowest unemployment 

rates (3.9% compared to 4.4% nationally) 
 The UK’s fourth largest  

exporting region 
 Highest proportion of innovation 

active businesses in the UK 
 Accounts for 25% of private sector 

R&D investment in the UK 
 Second highest gross R&D expenditure 

in the UK, equal to 3.36% of GDP (twice 
the national average of 1.67%)

 Four key technology strengths 
(according to the government’s Science 
& Innovation Audit) in: Life Sciences, 
Agri-tech, Advanced Materials and 
Manufacturing and ICT.

1 Source: Eurostat 2018 and ONS  |  2 Source: Irwin Mitchell UK Powerhouse report 2018.

Welcome 
to Breckland

Seven good reasons to 
move your enterprise 
to the heart of the East

When looking to grow 
your business, you’ll need 
affordable space and strong 
business networks. You’ll 
want a community that 
welcomes you and a council 
with an investment mindset. 
You’d also appreciate a 
family-friendly environment 
that helps you attract and 
retain talented employees.

50



04   Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business   05

The 100km Cambridge Norwich 
Tech Corridor, which follows the 
line of the A11, represents one of 
the most exciting development 
opportunities in the UK. It connects 
two of the UK’s fastest growing 
urban economies – Norwich and 
Cambridge – and their globally 
important technology and life 
sciences research clusters. Between 
them, these two cities are nurturing 
a thriving ecosystem of knowledge-
intensive businesses and enterprise 
networks that stretches across  
the region.

Cambridge is justifiably famous for 
its university and science parks, 
and as a valuable tech cluster with 
specialisms in AI, robotics and big 
data. Norwich is also building an 
international reputation for the 
quality of its universities – University 
of East Anglia and Norwich 
University of the Arts – and as a 
centre for life sciences. Institutes 
on Norwich Research Park are 
performing a strategically important 
role in the study of food, soil and 
human health and sustainability. 

Breckland is at the heart of the Cambridge Norwich 
Tech Corridor with good rail and road links to both 
cities. That makes it the perfect location for any  
high-growth business looking for both affordable  
office or industrial space and a strong innovation 
culture. Here you will find advanced manufacturing, 
engineering and logistics businesses, as well med-tech 
and agri-tech innovators.

We now have three significant clusters developing along 
the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor, in the south of 
the district. These are around Thetford, Snetterton and 
Attleborough, where the focus tends to be on advanced 
engineering and manufacturing. In the north, along 
the A47, there’s an increasing concentration of service 
companies near Swaffham and Dereham.

Many engineering companies in the region are also 
benefiting from their proximity to the East of England 
Energy Coast. Once a major hub for servicing the North 
Sea gas fields, it is now a key part of the UK’s move to 
renewable energy, with some of the world’s largest 
wind-farms rising out of our coastal waters. A number 
of global energy companies are establishing operations 
and maintenance centres in the region, and are keen to 
work with the local supply chain.

Build your 
business in the 
centre of the 
Cambridge 
Norwich  
Tech Corridor

 King’s Lynn   

  Fakenham

  Thetford

  Swaffham 
  Dereham

Watton   

   Ely

 Cambridge   

  Bury St. Edmunds

  Norwich

  Lowestoft

  Great  
 Yarmouth

  Cromer

Attleborough   

King’s Lynn 
Innovation Centre

 West Suffolk  
 Innovation Centre

 Scottow  
 Enterprise Park

 Norwich  
 Research Park

 Hethel  
 Engineering  
 Centre

 Thetford  
 Enterprise  
 Park

 Suffolk Park

 Eastern Agri-Tech 
 Innovation Hub

 Cambridge 
 Science Park

A47

A47

A47
A47

A47

A47

A11

A11

A11

A14

Snetterton

To London
(65 miles)

To The 
North

To Amsterdam 
Schiphol Airport

(1 hour)

51



06   Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business   07

Automotive and motor sport

If you ask motor sport fans about Norfolk, they will 
almost certainly talk about the iconic Lotus racing car, 
built at Hethel. However, many will also mention days 
out at the famous Snetterton motor racing circuit, 
owned by ex-FI driver Jonathan Palmer. As well as 
hosting various races throughout the year, it is used by 
many leading motorsport manufacturers as a test track.

This affinity with the sport has helped attract specialist 
automotive manufacturers to the region. For instance, 
just down the road at Thetford, the global automotive 
parts supplier Multimatic Inc has its European Technical 
Centre. Here it designs and supplies suspension 
components for many of the world’s top motor racing 
and sports car companies.

Logistics 

Businesses in Breckland benefit from excellent 
connections with the rest of the UK and Europe. 
Facilitating these links are companies like Johnston 
Logistics UK, at Snetterton, and Century Logistics, with 
multiple sites in East Anglia, including Thetford. 

Johnston provides bonded warehousing and 
fulfilment services to a range of clients including major 
supermarkets, FMCG manufacturers, and food and 
drink producers. Century specialises in linking the retail 
industry with Felixstowe, the UK’s largest container port, 
as well as providing valuable services such as reworking 
goods and returns processing. Both are conveniently 
close to the A11, in the centre of the Cambridge 
Norwich Tech Corridor.

Advanced engineering  
and manufacturing

A critical link in our regional supply chain, this sector 
supports many other industries. 

A good example of the success this brings is Warren 
Services, which has Multimatic as one of its clients.  
The company specialises in designing, machining, 
welding and fabricating high value components and 
mechanical/electrical sub assemblies at its modern 
facilities in Thetford. It serves clients in sectors 
as diverse as automotive, food packaging, and 
construction (particularly event staging – it once  
built a 60ft robot for a Take That concert).  

Another engineering company in Thetford that  
serves the construction industry is Trox UK. It 
designs and manufactures heating, ventilation and 
air conditioning (HVAC) technology. Over the last 50 
years, it has built an outstanding reputation for design 
expertise and product innovation. 

Meanwhile, in Attleborough, Eastern Attachments 
designs and fabricates loader attachments for 
agricultural and construction vehicles. It specialises in 
using low alloy steels with greater yield strength and 
resistance to deformation than standard mild steels. 
These advanced materials, combined with modern 
production technologies, enable the company to 
produce stronger, lighter equipment than many of  
its competitors. 

Food processing and packaging

Farms in Norfolk have an excellent reputation for 
growing high quality produce, from wheat, barley and 
mustard, to potatoes, poultry and pork. It is hardly 
surprising that we are also home to some of the UK’s 
biggest food processors. Two of them – Hook 2 Sisters 
Food Group (which owns the famous Bernard Matthews 
brand) and Cranswick plc (which also owns Crown 
Chicken) have major operations in Breckland.

Not only humans benefit from Norfolk’s fresh food. The 
vets and nutritionists at Natures Menu Ltd are Europe’s 
leading experts in the production of raw and raw-
inspired pet foods. The firm recently completed a £17m 
investment in new state of the art processing facilities at 
Snetterton, where it now employs around 200 people. 

Other manufacturing companies in the region with links 
to the food production sector include Camvac Limited 
in Thetford and Ultimet Films Limited in Attleborough. 
Camvac was the first in Europe to produce food-contact 
grade metallised film, which significantly extends the 
shelf life of fresh and processed foods. Ultimet is a 
leading supplier of vacuum-coated metallised films used 
in a range of industrial applications, including packaging 
for snacks, ready meals and pet food.

DISCOVER  
SUCCESS IN  
BRECKLAND

The business community 
in Breckland has its roots in 
our strong agricultural and 
manufacturing heritage. It 
also reflects our strategic 
location on two major roads 
– the A11 and A47 – that link 
Norfolk with the rest of the 
UK. As a result, our industries 
range from food processing 
and packaging companies, 
to equipment makers, 
automotive specialists and 
logistics companies.

Business in the  
region include

 2 Sisters Food Group

 Abel Homes

 Advanced Air UK

 Banham Poultry

 Banham Zoo

 Baxters Healthcare

 Boniface

 Bunning Agricultural Engineers

 Camvac

 Centurion Safety

 Century Logistics

 Cranswick

 Foulger Transport

 Johnston Logistics

 Lee & Plumpton

 Motorsport Vision

 Multimatic

 Natures Menu

 Natures Diet

 R G Carters Construction

 Pearn Wyatt & Son

 Shadwell Estates

 Trox UK

 Vanilla Electronics

 Warren Services
 

52



08   Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business   09

Breckland 
connects you 
with a world of 
research and 
innovation

The East of England – particularly  
the Cambridge Norwich Tech 
Corridor – is home to globally 
important science parks and  
research institutes. There are also  
a growing number of innovation  
hubs specialising in advanced 
engineering and technology.  
Together they develop 
groundbreaking ideas and  
support the commercialisation  
of research through effective  
business collaboration.

Within 45-minutes’ drive3 of most Breckland  
market towns

 Norwich Research Park – one of 
Europe’s largest single-site life 
sciences clusters. Home to the 
University of East Anglia (UEA), 
the Norfolk and Norwich University 
Hospital and four of the UK’s strategic 
research institutes: The Sainsbury 
Laboratory, John Innes Centre, 
Quadram Institute and Earlham 
Institute. Between them, they employ 
around 12,000 people, including 3,000 
scientists, researchers and clinicians. 

 The Enterprise Centre at the UEA – 
one of the UK’s greenest commercial 
buildings and an inspirational example 
of sustainable architecture built with 
local, renewable materials. Used as an 
education and incubation space by the 
Norwich Business School for student-
led start-ups. Has a vibrant mix of 
business tenants creating a successful 
eco-business hub. 

 Hethel Engineering Centre (HEC) – an 
award-winning innovation hub, next 
door to the Lotus car factory. HEC 
supports the advanced engineering and 
manufacturing sector with office and 
factory space as well as start-up, scale-
up and commercialisation programmes.

Within 90-minutes’ drive3 of most Breckland  
market towns

 St John’s Innovation Centre, 
Cambridge – established in 1987 
as part of St John’s Innovation Park. 
Supports start-ups and scale-ups, 
particularly in the technology sector.

 Cambridge Science Park – established 
in 1970 by Trinity College. Comprising 
1.7 million sq ft <m2?> of high 
specification offices and laboratories 
set in 60 hectares. More than 100 
organisations, from start-ups to leading 
technology companies, employing 
6,500 people. 

 Granta Park, Cambridge – established 
in 1998, an important business and 
science cluster offering offices and 
R&D laboratories to life science 
organisations of any size. Residents 
include MedImmune, Illumina, Pfizer, 
and PPD. 

 Adastral Park, Ipswich – home 
to BT’s global R&D headquarters 
and a growing cluster (Innovation 
Martlesham) of advanced ICT 
companies, including Cisco, Intel  
and Nokia.

3 Source of drive times https://app.traveltimeplatform.com and Google Maps.  

53



10   Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business   11

Snetterton…

is our largest and newest development site, with 
potential to create 3,200 jobs. It even has its own 
38?/44?MW biomass power station: BWSC East Anglia 
Ltd. We are supporting plans to use this local clean 
energy source as part of a £3.4m upgrade to the site’s 
electricity infrastructure.

There is already a thriving commercial and industrial 
community in the vicinity. Many businesses take 
advantage of easy access to the A11 linking Norwich to 
Cambridge, Stansted and London. Johnston Logistics 
UK even has its own rail-head that connects with the 
national freight network.

Engineering, manufacturing and automotive companies, 
in particular, will find opportunities to build on this 
success. These sectors already have a strong regional 
supply chain. As well as neighbouring Snetteron motor 
racing circuit, we have Multimatic, Lotus, and numerous 
specialist technology companies at the Hethel 
Engineering Centre within easy reach.   

The site has around 68?81? hectares ready for 
development, with purchase, leasehold, ‘design and 
build’, and joint venture options. There is capacity for 
an estimated 200,000m2 of office, industrial or logistics 
facilities, as well potential (and demand) for a hotel. 
Planners are also considering a proposal to add a further 
20 hectares to the site.

Thetford Enterprise Park …

is an exciting proposal for a major technology-focused, 
work/live community, within 35-minutes drive of 
leading research centres in Norwich and Cambridge. 
The 18-hectare site is ideally located beside the A11 and 
close to Thetford railway station, with regular and direct 
links to both cities. Significant investment has been put 
aside for infrastructure, energy and a pump priming 
fund is available.  It is also next to a planned sustainable 
urban extension of the town, called Thetford Kingsfleet, 
with 5,000 attractive and affordable new build homes.

Thetford already has a substantial established 
manufacturing cluster with a skilled local workforce. 
The Thetford Enterprise Park offers land purchase, 
leasehold and joint venture opportunities, with capacity 
for 52,940m2 of B1/B2 employment space, as well as 
potential for a hotel. Breckland and Norfolk County 
Council are building a new roundabout that will ensure 
easy access to the A11

Thetford Kingsfleet …

is visionary plan for a mixed live/work development  
next to the A11, just north of Thetford town centre  
and close to the railway station. The ambition is to 
create a thriving, sustainable community, with a  
wide choice of high-quality homes designed to 
suit modern lifestyles. There will also be extensive 
community facilities, including allotments, playing  
fields and public parks, as well as easy access to  
local employment opportunities. 

Nationally respected developers will build the 5,000 
properties, in phases, along with retail space. The  
site includes 22 hectares of employment land (in 
addition to the neighbouring Thetford Enterprise  
Park) for purchase, leasehold and joint ventures.  
This is suitable for commercial and industrial uses,  
with capacity for an estimated 85,000m2 of B1, B2  
and B8 employment facilities. 

Discover 
development 
opportunities  
in Breckland

Breckland med-tech 
success story

 Healthcare Ltd has 
been a global leader in 
healthcare innovation 
for over 80 years. It 
employs around 50,000 
people worldwide, 
including approximately 
1,250 people across 
12 sites in the UK. Its 
factory in Thetford, 
where it employs 
around 450 people and 
continues to invest in 
production facilities, 
is the only UK-based 
manufacturer of sterile 
IV solutions and bags.

We are supporting  
three new development 

zones along the  
Cambridge Norwich Tech 

Corridor to encourage 
economic growth.

54



12   Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business   13

Two of our towns – Thetford and Attleborough – have 
ambitious plans to build 5,000 new homes each, to 
exploit their central location on the Cambridge Norwich 
Tech Corridor. Swaffham and Dereham, on the A47, are 
also set for growth to support the thriving farming and 
food processing industry. Our fifth market town, Watton, 
stands at the heart of the district, and is seeing modest 
development in keeping with its rural setting. 

A family friendly environment

Breckland has one of the UK’s most beautiful and 
distinctive landscapes. Here you’ll find ancient purple 
heathland, the country’s largest lowland forest, rare 
wildlife and vast blue skies. You can enjoy them most of 
the year as we receive the lowest rainfall in the country, 
which means we tend to enjoy long hot summers and 
bright crisp winters.

Particular attractions in Breckland include  
Peddars Way, a former Roman road running 46 miles 
from Suffolk to the North Norfolk coast. High Lodge,  
in Thetford Forest, is popular with walkers, cyclists and 
adventurers who enjoy the thrill of climbing through 
trees on the Go Ape trail. Grimes Graves takes you back 
5,000 years to a time when Breckland was the centre 
of the flint mining industry – while our numerous 
museums encourage young and old to explore our  
rich heritage.

Homes – and offices – in and around our market towns 
are more affordable than in more crowded areas of the 
UK. Rates of crime and air pollution are both low – while 
life expectancy and overall quality of life indicators 
are high. We have good schools and are within easy 
reach of excellent universities – as well as two beautiful 
historic cities: Norwich and Cambridge.

Work live and 
play in Breckland

AROUND 135,000 
PEOPLE ALREADY 
ENJOY LIFE 
IN OUR FIVE 
MARKET TOWNS 
AND BEAUTIFUL 
COUNTRYSIDE. 

When you choose to  
work or live in Breckland, 
we’ll ensure you receive  
a warm welcome.

55



14   Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business Invest in Breckland — Grow your Business   15

WE’RE 
DETERMINED 
TO HELP YOU 
SUCCEED

Our ambition is for Breckland to become the East 
of England’s largest advanced engineering and 
manufacturing centre with a focus on Industry 4.0 
technologies. We are particularly keen to support 
businesses that capitalise on innovative ideas created in 
the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor. That includes 
companies specialising in agri-tech, clean-tech, robotics, 
or the use of AI to transform production in the food 
manufacturing, construction and automotive sectors. 

 We can provide you with the space and connectivity to 
grow and prosper. This includes grants and other types 
of funding through organisations like the New Anglia 
LEP and local angel investor networks. We have already 
secured some £15m of public investment in essential 
infrastructure for our housing and employment sites, to 
ensure a great choice of places to base your business.

We are active investors in our own community, using 
our council reserves and other funds. Our aim, when 
selecting investment projects, is to support economic 
development in the region and create worthwhile jobs. 
We are also working on strategic development projects 
to improve facilities in our town centres to enhance the 
living standards for all our residents. 

At the same time, we are determined to protect 
Breckland’s quality of life and biodiversity for generations 
to come. Our aim is for developments to be sustainable 
and in keeping with the local area. We want you to enjoy 
living here as much as you enjoy working here.

Thank you for taking the time to read 
this prospectus. We hope you found it 
interesting and useful. Our InvestBreckland 
team is ready to help you make the move 
to our region. 

Contact us today to discover more benefits 
of working and living in the heart of the 
East of England. Find out how you can 
tap into the dynamic growth across our 
region, particularly along the Cambridge 
Norwich Tech Corridor. Ask us for an 
introduction to other businesses who have 
succeeded here – or see our website for 
more details on our development sites.  

01362 656870
hello@investinbreckland.co.uk
investinbreckland.co.uk

56



Breckland Council 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
01362 656870
hello@investinbreckland.co.uk 
investinbreckland.co.uk 

Choose Breckland for 
growth opportunities

57



Breckland District Council Investment Strategy 2019-20 to 2021-22

Purpose
The purpose of this investment strategy is to set the context within which the council will invest 
its reserves, balances and funds.

Background
Investment provides a wide opportunity and the current capital projects and reserves list 
illustrates this with investment in services, transformation projects, IT, operational assets and 
investment assets etc. 

The Council’s Treasury Management Policy and Strategy determines where we can invest our 
cash balances.  This is scrutinised by Governance and Audit Committee and approved by Full 
Council and can be amended at any time.  The Treasury Management policy and strategy is 
based on the Prudential Code and MHCLG (Ministry for Housing Communities & Local 
Government) Guidance.  This investment strategy links to the Treasury Policy and Strategy 
and the Capital Strategy, but each policy is entirely separatei.

The current issues and risks for the Council include:

1. As reserves and balances become more constrained the options are more limited in 
terms of asset acquisitions, especially when repayment of the debt is taken into 
account. In this context where and how should the council continue to invest its 
remaining reserves and in what circumstances would the taking of debt be acceptable, 
bearing in mind that the Council is currently debt free, are key considerations.
 

2. How much of remaining balances should be used for different purposes (such as those 
outlined above) or set aside for future opportunities/potential liabilities. 

3. There has been some risk within the investment asset portfolio in terms of the security 
of rental income and the impact on council finances should income not be achieved for 
any reason.  The Council will undertake diversification of the portfolio to offset this. 

4. It is already planned that the investment asset portfolio be subject to regular review 
and this is underway, however the impact on revenue income needs to be managed 
when there are timing issues between disposal and acquisition as these could be 
substantial and reserve funding has been allocated to address this.

5. The Council is seeking to drive the 'acquisition and direct devleopment strategy' with a 
growth-orientated  approach and in alignment with the Invest in Breckland Prospectus, 
whilst also considering any other commercial opportunities that may arise.

6. It is agreed that this work needs to be regularly reviewed around key areas of focus 
and key strategic areas of interest.

7. It is noted that it is possible to loan funds to a company for a market rate of interest to 
increase investment income, however the length of time over which this investment 
would take place needs also to be considered as balances are projected to continue to 
decline over future years as reserves and balances reduce.

This strategy seeks to address these risks by providing an adopted position on how much 
funding should be used, for which timeframe and for what purpose.

58



Strategy
The total investment opportunity is articulated as follows:

A. Investment in time and resource to drive and review existing income streams/debt 
collection, for example: fees and charges, council tax, housing benefits overpayments, 
sundry debts and more recent opportunities include significant Grant Funding 
opportunities – LLEP funding, Homes England funding which then drives New Homes 
Bonus (NHB) and Business Rates (NNDR) growth. 

B. Investment in services to drive transformation, for example; IT, the digitalisation 
agenda, etc.

C. Commercialisation of services through capital or revenue investment to drive new 
income streams.

D. Investment in operational assets to extend their life, facilitate income generation or a 
social return on investment.

E. Acquisition of plant vehicles or equipment as part of a contract to avoid finance lease 
costs by a contractor or to increase efficiency.

F. Disposal of low performing assets to recycle into new investment opportunities.
G. Purchase of investment assets either directly, or in partnership with others - investment 

locally (grows business rates/builds houses) or elsewhere - yield may be better but no 
additional income generated, alongside the Invest in Breckland Prospectus.

H. Development and disposal of assets in order to achieve income and/or capital gain and 
further future investment opportunities also supporting the Invest in Breckland 
Prospectus.

Other balances are held as a prudent protection against future events, which may occur, for 
example the Revenues and Benefits reserve holds balances to protect the Council if business 
rates were to drop below the ‘Safety Net’ level.  These balances can be invested on a 
temporary basis for 1 to 3 years, i.e. loans to Council owned companies, internal borrowing for 
contract equipment, etc to generate an additional return – however they should not be 
permanently committed as they may become required if the potential event occurs. 
Increasingly we should make allowance for capital replacement and investment through 
revenue to provide future resilience and reduce reliance on capital resources.

Monitoring
This Strategy will be managed and reviewed every three years and, from time to time, updates 
and re-issues will be circulated.  However, it will be reviewed sooner if external changes 
occur, a weakness in the policy is highlighted, in the case of new risks, and/or changes in 
legislation.

Related Policies and Strategies
This strategy links to the following policies or strategies:

 Treasury Management Policy and Strategy
 Capital Strategy
 Asset Management Plan
 Medium Term financial Plan
 Corporate Plan
 Invest in Breckland Prospectus

i CIPFA released 2 consultations in August 2017 to review the Prudential Code and the Treasury Code, therefore 
this strategy may need to change dependent on the outcome of these consultations.

59



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance and Christine 
Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation 

To: Cabinet, 19 March 2019
Full Council, 16 May 2019

Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

Subject: NNDR Discretionary Relief

Purpose: Proposed Policy and Guidance for Local Discretionary Business Rates 
(NNDR) Relief

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Full Council adopts the proposed policy and guidelines to determine applications for 
LDRR and the determination process, with immediate effect.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report proposes an addition to Breckland’s existing guidance on NNDR rate relief to 
cover Local Discretionary Rate Relief (LDRR).  The ability for local authorities to award 
this rate relief is derived from Section 69 of the Localism Act 2011 which amended 
Section 47 of the 1988 Local Government Finance Act.

1.2 LDRR will provide Breckland with the ability to award rate relief to all types of businesses, 
provided it is in the interest of the Council Tax payer and critically is based on locally 
determined criteria which may support local economic growth objectives.  The purpose of 
this paper is to establish the criteria and process upon which Breckland will make a 
decision on awarding LDRR.  

The costs of any relief granted are shared based on the national Retained NNDR scheme.  
In 2019-20 the Council is in a 75% pilot scheme which means the costs will be shared 
42½% to Breckland, 32½% to Norfolk County Council and 25% to Central Government.  
Cost share for future years will be based on the new national scheme tier splits which 
have not yet been set.

1.3 The proposal to extend the scope of LDRR is needed to ensure that Breckland maintains 
a competitive position in the East of England, especially as a number of other district 
employment sites have access to the Government’s Enterprise Zone status which 
provides a range of incentives including up to 100% Business Rates Relief worth up to 
£275,000 per business over a 5-year period.

  PRINCIPLES FOR AWARDING LDRR
1.4 In broad terms LDRR should be applied where a business relocation decision supports 

Breckland’s economic growth ambitions and objectives.  The aim of this LDRR policy and 
guidance is to support potential inward investors locating into the Breckland area.  The 
strategic context for these objectives is set out in the InvestBreckland strategy; in 
summary:-

a. Supporting the Council’s Corporate Priorities of:-

60

Agenda Item 10



- Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive
- Providing the right services, at the right time and in the right way
- Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth
- Enabling strong, more independent communities

b. The Council’s investment focus is to:-
- Increase business rates receipts through high value new builds
- Stimulating economic growth through key anchor site developments
- Building commercial assets with higher rental values per sq ft
- Providing a home for innovation
- Maximising opportunities along Breckland’s major growth corridors

c. The Council’s commitment to our five market towns focuses around their future 
economic strength and vitality through:-
- Increasing the number of well paid local jobs through the creation of business 

incubator centres
- Improving our town centres offer, including through strategic development projects 

and improvements to the public realm
- Investing to ensure strong connectivity between our major new housing developments 

and our town centres

  PROPOSED CRITERIA FOR AWARDING LDRR
1.5   It is proposed that the following matters should be considered when determining an award 

for LDRR:

1) Does the investment benefit local people and/or the local economy?
Applications will be considered favourably where they provide significant 
employment opportunities benefit the local supply chain and align with Breckland’s 
key growth sectors.  Additional consideration will be given to applications which 
propose to build significant new business premises within the Breckland District, 
providing they bring a corresponding significant benefit to the local economy.

2) Does the business create or support opportunities for education or training?
A highly skilled workforce is a foundation of a successful local economy.  In order 
for a business investment decision to be considered under this criteria it should 
demonstrate a commitment to upskilling its current and future workforce.

3) Will the premises be occupied immediately?
No relief will be granted for new premises where there is no intention for them to be 
occupied immediately on completion.

4) Is the ratepayer eligible for any other mandatory or discretionary relief?
LDRR is unlikely to be granted other than in exceptional circumstances if the 
ratepayer is entitled to other mandatory or discretionary relief.

5) Is this property a new entry on the Breckland business rates list (or will it be a 
new entry once completed)?
LDRR is unlikely to be granted on existing premises where NNDR is already being 
paid.

6) Is the business re-locating from elsewhere in the Breckland area?
LDRR is unlikely to be granted where a business is relocating from an existing 
property in the Breckland area where NNDR is already payable to Breckland 
unless the relocation is to substantially larger premises with corresponding benefits 
to the local economy.

   It is important to note that meeting the above criteria does not automatically mean that 
LDRR will be awarded.  In addition if a decision to award LDRR is made, the level of relief 
should relate to the extent to which the above criteria are met.

61



  PROPOSED LDRR APPLICATION PROCESS
1.6   Each application for LDRR will need to be submitted on a formal application form and will 

include the following information:
 Demonstration of how the business meets the criteria set out in 1.4 above
 Latest business plan with a 12 month financial forecast
 Last 2 years audited accounts
 Purpose and use of new property
 Details of the nature of the business
 If any other Business Rates Relief apply
 How granting the NNDR discount will benefit the district (in both economic and non-

economic terms).  This should include details of employment being created and 
wage levels

 Evidence of other reliefs, grants, benefits, etc which may be deemed as state aid 
within the current and previous 2 financial years or a declaration that none have 
been received.

1.7   Applications will be determined by a panel with reference to the above criteria.  The panel 
will consist of: The Executive Member Finance and Delivery, the Deputy Leader, the 
Executive Director Commercialisation (& S151 Officer) and the Executive Manager 
Property and Development.

Successful applications for LDRR will usually be for an initial period of 3 years, after which 
time they will be reviewed.  Timeframes will be at the discretion and be determined by the 
above mentioned panel.

  The Council will notify the applicant of the outcome of their request and if the application is 
unsuccessful the Council will explain the reasons why.

  THE RIGHT TO APPEAL
1.8   Section 47 awards are administered under the Local Government finance Act 1988 and 

awards are not subject to statutory appeals process.  Appeals with therefore be decided 
by the Council.  Breckland will operate the following policy for dealing with appeals:

 An applicant who disagrees with a decision may ask for the decision to be reviewed
 The request must be made in writing within one calendar month of the original 

decision
  Decisions will be reviewed by The Panel and the applicant will be notified within 21 

working days with full written reasons for the decision.

  STATE AID CONSIDERATIONS
1.9   EU state Aid rules generally prohibit government subsidies to businesses, providing 

discretionary NNDR relief to ratepayers can in some cases be deemed to be State Aid.

  There is however a general exception to the state Aid rule where the aid is below a ‘de-
minimis’ level.  Regulations allow a business to currently receive up to €200,000 of de-
minimis aid (€100,000 in the road freight transport sector) in a rolling three year period 
(consisting of the current financial year and 2 previous financial years).

  Breckland will ensure compliance with the legal requirements and any permitted 
exemptions by considering each case based on the applicants individual circumstances in 
full consideration of State Aid rules.

The applicant has an obligation to inform the Council if they are or will be in receipt of 
other State Aid.  In the event of the applicant failing to declare this when LDRR is 

62



awarded, it will result in the Council recouping from the applicant any LDRR previously 
granted.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That Full Council adopts the proposed policy and guidelines to determine applications for 
LDRR and the determination process, with immediate effect.

2.2 Do not adopt an LDRR policy.

2.3 That Full Council makes changes to the proposed policy and guidelines to determine 
applications for LDRR and the determination process, and then adopts with immediate 
effect.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 By adopting a policy which allows Breckland to award LDRR we are maximising 
opportunities to secure new business investment within the district.  

3.2 The proposed policy supports the ambitions of the InvestBreckland strategy.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Inward investment by companies and additional NNDR receipts in the medium to longer 
term, along with associated benefits such as greater employment.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Corporate Priorities
5.1.1 This supports the priorities of; Supporting Breckland to Develop and thrive, Developing the 

local economy to be vibrant with continued growth.

5.2 Financial 
5.2.1 The awarding of LDRR in part or full will have a short term impact on business rates 

receipts, however in the medium to longer term it will grow the business rates base through 
the attraction of additional business investment within the district.  Without adopting an 
LDRR policy it is likely that a number of potential investors will not consider locating into 
Breckland as they may well be attracted to other areas where LDRR does already apply.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 LDRR - Local Discretionary Rate Relief
7.2 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates

63



Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant and Robert Campbell, Inward 

Investment Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656865 / 01362 656808
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk / 

Robert.campbell@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

64

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance 

To: Cabinet, 19 March 2019

(Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation)

Subject: Quarter 3 Financial Performance Report 2018-19

Purpose: This report provides information on the forecast full year financial position 
of the Council as at 31 December 2018 and progress to date on the Moving 
Forward Transformation programme. 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the report and appendix is noted.

2) That any above budget spend at year end (up to £100,000) which cannot be funded from the 
General Fund, is funded from the Organisation Development Reserve un-allocated balance.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 
year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the forecast 
full year financial performance as at 31 December 2018 for revenue, transformation, 
capital and treasury, with the detail being included in the attached Appendix.

1.2 Revenue
The full year impact based on current projections and assumptions is a forecast above 
budget spend of £218k (1.5%) at the year end.

              There are many smaller variances this quarter and these are detailed in the appendix, the 
higher value variances identified are:

 Reduced building control income of £68k.
 Housing Benefit subsidy costs £58k above budget, this is a high value demand led 

area and varies throughout the year.
 Income lower than budget by £47k for recycling credits due to lower tonnage rates 

resulting from the dry summer weather.
 Reduced letting percentage at the Business Centres leading to £49k lost income.
 Efficiencies within services not yet achieved £80k – a section on the moving forward 

programme is included in the attached Appendix.
 Contribution to reserve of £175k for the additional planning fee income from 20% 

price increase, partly offset by additional planning income.
 Additional renewable energy NNDR income of £189k.
 Additional Government grants of £395k, mainly from NNDR Section 31 grants.

The Housing Service has seen a significant increase in demand over the course of this 
year and this has led to higher than budgeted spend, particularly with regard to 
emergency and temporary accommodation.  Additional staffing has been recruited to help 
meet demand but this has been funded through external sources, including the Flexible 
Housing Support grant and New Burdens monies.  The CIP Team is supporting the 

65

Agenda Item 11



service and reviewing demand and operational processes to ensure we set-up in the 
optimum manner to meet this new demand.  The Delivery Team is also assessing 
alternative options for the provision of temporary and emergency accommodation that 
offers best value for money.

1.3 Whilst this report shows an over spend, where these variances relate to ongoing costs or 
income (i.e. planning fee income to reserve, efficiencies targets, NNDR income and 
grants, etc), these have already been adjusted in the new 2019-20 budget.  This keeps 
the budgets up to date and should mean the same variances do not occur in future years.

Any over or under spend at the end of the year would usually be charged to the General 
Fund, however the minimum balance we have set for this is £2,500k and there is currently 
a £2,669k balance.  Based on the current forecast we will need to fund some of the over 
spend from reserves and this report recommends that any balance of over spend at the 
end of the year (up to £100k) is funded from the un-allocated Organisational Development 
Reserve (current balance £140k).
The new budget replenishes the General Fund during 2019-20 from additional NNDR 
income, meaning the future balance will be at a higher level to help protect against any 
future impact of the Fair Funding Review.

1.4 Moving Forward Transformation Programme

This programme has been extremely successful and has delivered savings of £1,767k 
(96%) against a target of £1,848k.  The programme has been flexed in this year’s budget 
to reflect the latest positions of project time frames and include the new phase 2 targets 
and will continue to be adjusted throughout the programme as necessary.  Overall the 
programme has achieved efficiencies of £1,934k (73%) by 2021-22 and these have 
already been included in the approved budgets.  Delivery of the remaining efficiencies is 
monitored regularly through the finance board.

1.5 Capital

The forecast out-turn shows spend of £7,461k (68%) against the budget at this stage of 
the year.  From the under spend of £3,384k, £2,855k will be carried forward into future 
years.

1.6 Treasury

The interest income budget has been increased this year and is forecast slightly above 
budget for the year, this is as a result of higher balances held compared to budget 
(through reduced capital spend, etc).

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the report and appendix be noted and that any above budget spend at year end (up 
to £100,000) which cannot be funded from the General Fund, is funded from the 
Organisation Development Reserve un-allocated balance.

2.2 That the report and appendix be noted and that any above budget spend at year end (up 
to £100,000) which cannot be funded from the General Fund, is not funded from the 
Organisation Development Reserve un-allocated balance but is funded from elsewhere.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

66



3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council, 
enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure Members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 
financial position.

4.2 To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond 
quickly to opportunities as they arise.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 The Council’s budget and associated spend supports the Council’s priorities.

5.3 Financial 

5.2.1 The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications.

5.8 Risk Management 

5.3.1 Risks are included within the report

5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.4.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those 
variances.

5.10 Transformation Programme

5.5.1 The transformation programme is intrinsically linked to the Council’s budget and this report 
includes progress on the Moving Forward programme to date.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 ARP – Anglia Revenues Partnership
7.2 DWP – Department for Work & Pensions
7.3 GDPR – General Data Protection Regulation
7.4 LIBID - London Inter-Bank Bid Rate.
7.5 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates
7.6 PFI – Private Finance Initiative

67



Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Forecast financial report for 2018-19 full year

68

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Page 1 of 7

Breckland Council
Financial report for the quarter ended 31 December 2018

This report has three sections
o Section 1 – Revenue budget and Moving Forward Transformation Programme
o Section 2 – Capital budget
o Section 3 – Treasury update

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income.
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income.

Section 1 - Revenue

Table 1 – Forecast Revenue Outturn 

 Budget
Forecast 
Out-turn

Forecast 
Variance

 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost of Services  
1) Strategy Governance & Transformation 5,202 5,461 259
2) Growth & Commercialisation 1,156 1,252 96
3) Place 6,081 6,222 141
4) Housing Benefits (127) (69) 58
5) Total Cost of Services before reserves 12,312 12,866 554

6) Contributions to/from reserves 1,727 1,980 253
7) Total Cost of Services 14,039 14,846 807

Funding & Appropriations
8) Appropriations 1,057 867 (190)
9) Government grants (5,442) (5,837) (395)
10) Council Tax (3,786) (3,786) -
11) Retained Business Rates (5,868) (5,872) (4)
12) Total Funding (14,039) (14,628) (589)
 

Contribution (to)/from the General Fund - 218 218

Significant variances are detailed over the page.

Salaries
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2018-19 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues
Partnership (ARP) staff.
The achieved vacancy factor is currently slightly below target by 0.59%, however this is expected 
at this stage of the year and will be monitored as the year progresses.

69



Page 2 of 7

Table 2 - Significant Variances

Cost Centre

Total 
Budget

£

Total 
Variance

£ Comments

1) High Impact

1a) Efficiencies Achieved (80,775) 80,775

Efficiencies achieved to date including the moving forward targets are slightly below budget.  Work 
has started on the majority of projects to deliver the savings, however any areas of concern are 
raised at the Finance Board to ensure we keep on track for the overall savings targets.  Future 
years targets have been flexed as part of the budget setting process.

1b) Building Control 214,955 68,837

This is due to below budget income due to bigger development work being undertaken by approved 
inspectors rather than the Council's building control team. The fee work we are undertaking is 
smaller in scale results in less income to the Council.

1c) Housing Benefit Grants (126,609) 57,944 This is a high value demand led budget where small changes can have a significant financial impact

1d) Breckland Business Centres (352,823) 48,929 Below budget percentage let in Thetford, partially offset by above budget in Dereham.

1e) Housing Option 325,369 44,098
This variance mainly relates to additional costs resulting from higher demand due to legislation 
changes for the Homelessness Prevention Initiative, plus additional costs of temp accommodation.

1f) BTS (78,176) 42,344

This is due to BTS losing approximately £14k of training bookings in March because of customer 
cancellations. Customers are citing contingency planning ahead of a potential no-deal Brexit as their 
reasons for pulling out.

1g) Commercial Property (1,950,728) 35,247

Reserves have been utilised to cover one off large tenants reduced income in year, leaving this 
variance.  The variance is mainly due to additional rates costs as a result of empty units in Thetford 
(which are now mostly filled).

1h) Insurance account 103,580 33,484
Additional insurance cover for GDPR which was not budgeted for and higher than anticipated costs 
for public liability and employers liability insurance due to (temporary) higher establishment levels.

2) High Opportunity

2a) Appropriations 1,057,386 (189,582)
This variance relates to additional renewable energy business rates income, which has been 
included in future years budgets.  Additional income is included from 2019-20 in this area.

2b) Development Control (153,640) (43,055) Additional income from planning fees and reduced salary costs through a vacancy.

3) One Offs

3a) Garden Waste (1,242,778) 47,359
This is mainly due to below budget income as a result of lower tonnage due to the dry weather this 
summer.

3b) Legal Services 135,483 41,796 Additional costs for legal work in the year to date, mainly within the lease renewals area.

3c) Waste Collection 2,214,778 (19,600) This variance is due to lower performance payment costs compared to estimates.

3d) Human Resources 402,447 42,770
Over spends in year relate mainly to I-Trent licence costs, additional staff hours implemented after 
the restructure and consultancy spend.

70



Page 3 of 7

Cost Centre

Total 
Budget

£

Total 
Variance

£ Comments

3e) Grants & Loans 63,333 26,643 The variance is due to a shortfall in income resulting from a delayed start in enforcement action.

3f) Democratic Services 689,008 30,211
This is due to additional special allowances and travel costs paid to members following a change in 
responsibilities.

3g) Elizabeth House 231,719 22,365 Additional costs relating to H&S equipment, repairs and electricity costs in year and new CCTV.

3h) Community Safety 309,825 19,370 This is mainly due to a shortfall in income resulting from a delayed start in enforcement action.

3i) Pollution Control 282,462 19,795 Over spend is due to costs awarded following a legal case against the Council.

3j) Forward Planning 727,687 21,233 The over spend is a result of costs that have been delayed for local plan production.

3k) ICT 756,154 19,845 Higher than anticipated supplies & services costs.

3l) Government Grants (5,442,083) (395,345) Additional one off government grants for Rural Services and NNDR.

4) Low Impact

4a) Contributions from reserves 1,726,403 253,444
£175k of this variance relates to the additional 20% planning fees income which was not budgeted 
for.  The remainder of the variance is offset by under spends within service areas.

4b) Miscellaneous 37,022 (40,560) Net effect of other smaller value variances

4c) Match funding 150,000 (50,000)
Reduced grant spend to date – this variance is fully offset by an overspend within contributions 
to/from reserves.

5) TOTAL - 218,347

71



Page 4 of 7

Collection Funds
Council Tax
The Council Tax collection fund account has a residual surplus of £965k overall, with Breckland’s 
share being £95k.  The forecast for 2018-19 is currently slightly higher than budget due to increased 
tax base and this value of £40k will be factored into budget setting for next year. 

Retained Business Rates
The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account has a residual surplus of £728k overall, 
with Breckland’s share being £291k.  The forecast for 2018-19 is currently a deficit of around £2,297k 
with Breckland’s share being £919k, due to high appeals levels forecast.  There is also additional 
Renewable Energy income forecast which generates an additional £645k for Breckland next year.  
The net effect of these values of £273k deficit has been incorporated into future years budgets.  

Virement Decisions Required
There are no virement decisions required.  

Other Risks
The following areas are financial risks which the Council is facing, but the actual financial implications 
have not yet been fully quantified:

o Moving forward targets not achieved has led to the targets being flexed accordingly in future 
year’s budgets.

o From 1 January 2019 clinical waste will no longer be collected by doctors surgeries, but will 
need to be collected by District Councils instead.

o A major commercial unit remains vacant which impacts income received.
o The garden waste tonnage income is lower this financial year due to weather conditions.

Full risk registers are held within the corporate improvement team.

Actions/Decisions
o None

72



Page 5 of 7

Moving Forward Transformation Programme

The Council’s transformation programme forms an integral part of the Medium Term Financial Plan and once delivered will reduce reliance on central 
government funding by the end of the medium term.  The programme includes a number of different projects within each of the four themes and progress 
against these projects and their related efficiency targets are monitored by the transformation boards.

The programme has delivered 96% of the 2018-19 efficiencies including service reviews and the enabling projects.  The forecast shortfall in achievement 
of projects for this year is £81k, some of these efficiencies are now unlikely to be realised and the Finance Board has reviewed these along with the phase 
2 projects and flexed the budget for future years.  

Some projects have overachieved on their targets and others have been slightly delayed, but are due to achieve over the term of the programme and the 
net result is an achievement of £1,934k, 74% of the overall target.  Re-profiling of project start and end dates are made as necessary.   

The table below shows the progress against the programme as at 31 December 2018. 
 Digitalisation Commercialisation Organisational Design Aligning Public Services Other TOTAL

 Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance

Year £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

2018-19 (28) (36) (8) (1,127) (903) 224 (612) (533) 79 (81) (81) 0 0 (213) (213) (1,848) (1,766) 82 

2019-20 (28) (36) (8) (1,363) (974) 389 (937) (799) 138 (81) (81) 0 0 (18) (18) (2,409) (1,908) 501 

2020-21 (28) (36) (8) (1,501) (949) 552 (937) (779) 158 (81) (81) 0 0 (18) (18) (2,547) (1,863) 684 

TOTAL (28) (36) (8) (1,581) (1,006) 575 (937) (793) 144 (81) (81) 0 0 (18) (18) (2,627) (1,934) 693 

Minimum £36k Minimum £1,127k Minimum £612k Minimum £81k Minimum £213k Minimum £2,069k 

Target £28k Target £1,581k Target £937k Target £81k Target £0k Target £2,627k 

Maximum £36k Maximum £1,743k Maximum £937k Maximum £81k Maximum £18k Maximum £2,815k 

73



Page 6 of 7

Section 2 - Capital

Table 1 - Progress against 18-19 approved capital programme

 
Budget  

£

Forecast
Out-turn

£

Forecast 
(under)/overspend

£
Commercialisation  
   Property (Land & Buildings) 2,449,129 2,279,499 (169,630)
   Capital grants 2,525,470 444,217 (2,081,253)
   Capital loans 483,038 463,376 (19,662)
   Not yet released 622,360 110,000 (512,360)
Total Commercialisation 6,079,997 3,297,092 (2,782,905)
Strategy & Governance
   ICT & Organisational Change 271,932 271,932 -
   Not yet released - - -
Total Strategy & Governance 271,932 271,932 -
Place
   Property (Land & Buildings) 28,542 28,758 216
   ICT & Organisational Change 430,930 430,930 -
   Grants 1,618,317 1,618,317 -
   Not yet released 2,415,038 1,813,503 (601,535)
Total Place 4,492,827 3,891,508 (601,319)
TOTAL 10,844,755 7,460,531 (3,384,224)

Forecast outturn £7,460,531 or 68%

Table 2 - The variance is shown below:

Project

(under)/ 
over spend

£

Carry over 
to Future

£
Commercialisation
DWP 27,510 - This over spend from project management cannot be 

recovered from DWP.  
Riverside (172,639) Balance available for fit out of final unit
Snetterton Utilities (2,081,254) Project is fully funded but spend profile has changed
Purchase of land (24,500) Purchase not proceeding
CP disposals (512,360) Budget no longer required (offset by reduced receipts)
Capital loans (19,662) Balance no longer required
Strategy & Governance

- -
Place
Car Park resurfacing 216 - Minor overspend on retention sum.
Adoption of roads (601,535) Re-profile of spend
Total (528,796) (2,855,428) = (£3,384,224) Total

Virements this qtr:
o None

Risks:
o None

Actions/Decisions
o None.

74



Page 7 of 7

Section 3 – Treasury

Security

The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns.

Maximum 
risk level

Actual 
risk level Variance

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.019% 0.041%
   Investments maturing between 1 - 2 years 0.060% n/a -
   Investments maturing between  2 - 3 years 0.080% n/a -

Liquidity

The Council had an average of £6.3m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  This 
is slightly in excess of the working capital sum required (£5m) but reflects the potential requirement 
for funding for large asset purchases.  The council did not use its overdraft facility in this reporting 
period.

Yield

Budget Forecast Variance
Interest receivable 2018-19 £256,552 £273,154 (16,602)
Yield (3 month LIBID1) 0.649% 0.860% (0.211%)

The rate of return of 0.86% includes cash investments and loans to 3rd parties and is higher than the 
target yield.  The additional income is a result of loans to 3rd parties at market rates continuing for a 
longer time frame than originally budgeted, higher balances than expected (due to lower spend on 
capital programme) and an increase to the base bank rate. 

Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below.

 

30,030,765, 99%

270,000, 1%

banks - 
UK

Loans to 
3rd Parties

Counterparty Exposure

Actions/Decisions required

None

1 LIBID – London Inter-bank Bid Rate

Currently 
23% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week.

75



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Mark Robinson, Executive Member for Governance  

To: Cabinet – 19 March 2019 
Council – 16 May 2019

 
Author: Jacqui Berridge - Lawyer

Subject: Log of Contracts Delegation to Officers and Contract Procedure Rules 

Purpose: To consider a proposed log of Delegations to Officers in relation to 
contracts, and proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules

Recommendation(s): 

1. That the proposed delegations to officers relating to contracts, detailed in Appendix A, be 
approved; and 

2. That the proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules detailed in Appendix B 
be approved.

Recommend to FULL COUNCIL: 

3. That the Constitution be amended in accordance with Appendix B.  

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Breckland Council currently does not have a full log of delegations to officers in relation to 
contracts.  High level delegations are set out in the Constitution together with a limited 
number of specific delegations in the Contract Procedure Rules and Standing Orders.  

1.2 A recent internal audit of the Corporate Contracts and Procurement Team contains a formal 
recommendation that the Contract Procedure Rules be amended to show what level of 
officer may authorise each level of the procurement process, and there is therefore a need 
to provide more detailed delegations which align with the Contract Procedure Rules set out 
in the Constitution.

1.3 The proposed delegations set out in this report are already exercised by officers, in 
accordance with the current general and specific delegations in the Constitution and the 
Contract Procedure Rules. The purpose of this report is to provide clarity in respect of those 
delegations, and in particular to ensure that the level of officer exercising those delegations 
is clear. A list of proposed officer delegations relating to contracts, as detailed in Appendix 
A, is submitted for consideration. 

1.4 Members should also note that the Cabinet retains decision-making power in respect of 
contracts and procurement, regardless of the delegations. As such, there will be occasions 
where officers choose not to exercise their delegated authority, and instead refer the 
decision to executive members.

1.5 All substantive officer decisions must be published and will therefore be subject to scrutiny. 
Many will also be subject to potential call-in. 

76

Agenda Item 12



1.6 Proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules to comply with the audit 
requirement are also attached at Appendix B.

2.0 PROPOSED DELEGATIONS TO OFFICERS 

2.1 The proposed log of delegations essentially deals with:
 tendering of contracts
 evaluation of tenders/ quotations
 awarding of contracts
 signing of contracts
 termination of contracts; and 
 waiving of any requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules.  

2.2  The proposed delegations for each of these functions allow the following: 
 
 tendering and evaluating - officers below Service Manager (SM) level to undertake 

all parts of the tendering process but not the award or signing of contracts.  This 
allows lower level officers to request, receive and evaluate tenders/quotations in 
compliance with the Contract Procedure Rules

 awarding contracts – officers at SM level and above to award contracts. It is 
proposed that this should be subject to consultation with the relevant portfolio holder 
except for (i) routine contracts (for example, routine ongoing or annual maintenance 
contracts, routine purchasing of goods and equipment; routine servicing of vehicles 
etc); (ii) contracts for 1-off schemes where the scheme itself has been formally 
approved and where sufficient money has been allocated within the budget for the 
contract; and (iii) indirect services such as legal services or consultants for schemes 
which have been formally approved and where sufficient money has been allocated 
within the budget for the contract.  

 signing contracts  - officers at SM level and above to sign contracts which are not 
under seal, including the Contracts and Procurement Manager (the Constitution 
makes separate provision for the signing of contracts under seal) 

 terminating contracts  - officers at SM level and above to terminate any contract 
where there is lawful cause subject to consultation with the Monitoring Officer and 
s151 Officer. It is also proposed that this should be subject to consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder where a contract is to be terminated early, except where 
such contracts are minor or low value in nature.

 waiving any Contract Procedure Rule requirements (other than where the decision 
is reserved to Cabinet) - the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief 
Officers to waive any requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules following 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer or s151 Officer.

2.3 The following additional delegations are also proposed to deal with other matters in the 
Contract Procedure Rules:

 officers at SM level and above, including the Corporate Contracts and Procurement 
Manager, to enter into any necessary post tender negotiations

 officers at SM level and above to approve the use of Standing (Approved) Lists of 
Contractors 

 officers at SM level and above to dispose of obsolete assets 

77



2.4  As a matter of course no officer delegations may be actioned unless the funding for the 
proposed contract has been included within the approved budget.  As some contracts 
extend beyond the current financial year, this includes the approved 5 year capital 
programme.

2.5 If the proposed amended delegations are approved, the Cabinet and full Council will 
continue to recommend and approve the budget/capital programme for each contract, with 
officers then tendering and awarding contracts in compliance with the Contract Procedure 
Rules, subject to any necessary consultation with the relevant portfolio holder during the 
award process.  

3.0 PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES - 
PUBLICATION OF OFFICER DECISIONS MADE UNDER THE DELEGATIONS 

3.1 Most officer decisions must be published. However, this does not apply to routine 
administrative decisions and minor operational matters, or to decisions which are not 
closely connected to the discharge of an executive function. 

3.2 There is no legal definition of a minor or administrative decision, but the approach that 
officers adopt is to consider whether a decision would be of public interest. As such, low 
value contracts would likely be considered minor. Larger contracts could be of public 
interest and would therefore result in a decision notice.  Decisions on the process such as 
tendering and evaluation of tenders/quotations are not closely connected with the discharge 
of the function and are most likely administrative and are not published as they follow the 
process already approved as part of the Contract Procedure Rules in the Constitution.

3.3 These issues are reflected in the proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules 
detailed at Appendix B. 

4.0 OPTIONS

4.1 Cabinet can approve or decline to approve any of the delegations detailed in Appendix A 
and any of the proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules set out in Appendix 
B.

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1 The proposed delegations at Appendix A and the proposed amendments in Appendix B will 
comply with audit requirements and ensure that officers are aware of the level of delegation 
that applies to each part of the Contracts process.   

6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1  The proposed delegations to officers relate directly to the current Contract Procedure 
Rules. The proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules will secure 
compliance with the audit requirements.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

7.1  In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

78



Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

7.2   Constitution & Legal

7.2.1  As the award of contracts is an executive function, delegation of part of that function is 
reserved to the Leader and the Cabinet.  

7.2.2 The Contract Procedure Rules relate to the contracts function and Cabinet therefore has an 
opportunity to consider proposed amendments to the Rules, but as the Contract Procedure 
Rules form part of the Constitution full Council approval is required.

7.3 Contracts

7.3.1  The delegations will correlate and comply with the current Contract Procedure Rules.  The 
proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules will allow compliance with the audit 
requirements.   

7.4 Risk Management 

7.4.1 Full compliance with the Contract Procedure Rules and the relevant Officer delegations 
should lower any risk of challenge to any contracting procedure.

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1  None 

8.0 ACRONYMS 

 CPM means the Contracts and Procurement Manager 
 CX means Chief Executive 
 CO means Chief Officer (currently the CX and the Shared Executive Directors)
 DCO means Deputy Chief Officer (currently the Executive Managers) 
 SM means Service Manager
 SLO means the Senior Legal Officer (currently the Executive Manager Governance) 

Background papers:- None: but the Contract Procedure Rules which can be found online in 
the Council’s Constitution  

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jacqui Berridge Lawyer
Telephone Number
Email: jacqui.berridge@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 
Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

79



Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Proposed delegations to officers relating to contracts 
Appendix B Proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules 

80



APPENDIX A – proposed delegations to officers relating to contracts 

Officer(s) Subject  Delegatio
n From 

Power 

CX, COs and DCOs following 
consultation with the MO or 
S151 Officer

Contracts - 
contracting 
activities of any 
partnership for 
which the Council 
is the accountable 
body 

Cabinet (Note to Contract Procedure Rule 5.7)
Authority to agree that Contract Procedure Rules 
do not apply to contracting activities of any 
partnership for which the Council is the 
accountable body. 

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs 
subject to consultation with the 
appropriate portfolio holder 

(consultation is not required for 
(i) routine contracts (eg routine 
ongoing or annual maintenance 
contracts, routine purchasing of 
goods and equipment; routine 
servicing of vehicles etc); (ii) 
contracts for 1-off schemes 
where the scheme has been 
formally approved and where 
sufficient money has been 
allocated within the budget for 
the contract; and (iii) indirect 
services such as legal services 
or consultants for schemes 
which have been formally 
approved and where sufficient 
money has been allocated 
within the budget for the 
contract as such contracts are 
not closely connected to the 
discharge of the function.)   

Contracts – letting 
(awarding) of 
contracts through 
framework 
agreement 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 6.1.4 and 12.2) 
Authority to let (award) a contract through any 
framework agreement to which the Council has 
access where considered expedient by a CO or 
a DCO subject to the scheme falling within the 
approved budget which includes the approved 5 
year capital programme.

(A decision notice must be published for each 
award of contract unless administrative or minor 
or not closely connected to discharge of 
function.)

(The signing of contracts is dealt with separately 
below.)

CX, COs and DCOs following 
consultation with the MO or 
S151 Officer 

Contracts - 
variation or waiver 
(exemption) of 
Contract 
Procedure Rules 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 7.2)
Authority to vary or waive any Contract 
Procedure Rules subject to complying with all 
relevant requirements of Rule 7, and subject to 
the scheme falling within the approved budget 
which includes the approved 5 year capital 
programme. 

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs Contracts - 
Standing 
(Approved) Lists 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 12.1.2 and 12.1.3) 
Authority to determine that a Standing 
(Approved) List shall be kept of persons suitable 
for undertaking contracts for the execution of 
specified categories of work or for the supply of 
specified categories of goods, materials or 
services within such values or amounts as may 
be specified, in accordance with Contract 
Procedure Rule 8, and to use such Lists, subject 
to full compliance with Rule 8. 

(The awarding and signing of contracts are dealt 
with separately below)

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs Contracts - assets 
for disposal

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 13.2)
Authority to dispose of obsolete stocks, stores or 
assets, other than land, subject to complying 
with Contract Procedure Rule 9.2.

81



CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and any 
other officer with the written 
approval of the CX/CO/DCO/SM 
(any sub-delegations lasting 
more than 6 months must be 
reported to the SLO)

Contracts - pre 
tender market 
testing and 
consultation 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 14.1) Authority to 
consult potential suppliers prior to issue of the 
Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation 
subject to the scheme falling within the approved 
budget which includes the approved 5 year 
capital programme. 

CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and any 
other officer with the written 
approval of the CX/CO/DCO/SM 
(any sub-delegations lasting 
more than 6 months must be 
reported to the SLO)

Contracts – all 
values – seeking, 
receiving and 
evaluating 
quotations/tenders 
for contracts for 
works, goods 
materials and 
services, and 
hiring of 
consultants 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 12.1.7(a), 12.2 
(where a competition is required), 13.1.3 and 
13.1.4, 15.0,   16.0,  18.0,  20.1, 21.2).   
Authority to request and receive tenders and 
quotations, and to evaluate tenders and 
quotations subject to compliance with the 
Contract Procedure Rules (as amended by any 
authorised variation or waiver) and subject to the 
scheme falling within the approved budget which 
includes the approved 5 year capital 
programme. 

(The awarding and the signing of contracts are 
dealt with separately below.)

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs 
following consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder 

(consultation is not required for 
(i) routine contracts (eg routine 
ongoing or annual maintenance 
contracts, routine purchasing of 
goods and equipment; routine 
servicing of vehicles etc); (ii) 
contracts for 1-off schemes 
where the scheme has been 
formally approved and where 
sufficient money has been 
allocated within the budget for 
the contract; and (iii) indirect 
services such as legal services 
or consultants for schemes 
which have been formally 
approved and where sufficient 
money has been allocated 
within the budget for the 
contract as such contracts are 
not closely connected to the 
discharge of the function.)     

Contracts - 
awarding of 
contracts 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 12.2,  20.2)  
Authority to award contracts subject to 
compliance with the Contract Procedure Rules 
(as amended by any authorised variation) and 
subject to the scheme falling within the approved 
budget which includes the approved 5 year 
capital programme. 

(Decision notices must be published for each 
award of contract unless administrative or minor 
or not closely connected with discharge of 
function.)

(The signing of contracts is dealt with separately 
below.)    

The CPM plus the CX, COs, 
DCOs and SMs 

Contracts – 
signing of 
contracts which 
are not under seal 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 22.2) Authority to sign 
contracts which are not under seal and which 
come within the jurisdiction of the officer 
concerned. 

(Contracts under seal must be signed only by 
officers who have specific authority to do so.)

CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and any 
other officer with the written  
approval of the CX/CO/DCO/SM 
(any sub-delegations lasting 
more than 6 months must be 
reported to the SLO)

Contracts - refusal 
of hard copy 
tenders 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 18.3) 
Authority to refuse to accept hard copy tenders 
which do not comply with the Contract 
Procedure Rules.  

Officers of the Contracts team Contracts - 
Authorised Officer 
of relevant team 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 18.2.2 and 18.3) 
Officers appointed as "Authorised Officer of 
relevant team" 

82



CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and any 
other officer with the written  
approval of the CX/CO/DCO/SM 
(any sub-delegations lasting 
more than 6 months must be 
reported to the SLO)

Clarification of an 
invitation to tender 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 19.1)  Authority to 
provide clarification of an Invitation to tender

CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and CPM Post tender 
negotiations

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 19.2 to 19.6)  (at 
least 2 officers are required – see rule 19.6) 
Authority to undertake post tender negotiations 

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs
In consultation with the relevant 
portfolio holder

(consultation is not required for 
termination of low value or 
minor contracts)

Authority to 
terminate 
contracts 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 33)  Authority to 
terminate contracts subject to consultation with 
the MO and S151 Officer

83



APPENDIX B - Proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules 

Rule 6.1.1 be amended to read as follows:

“Officers will comply with:

(a) these Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs);

(b) the Council’s Constitution; 

(c) the Log of Delegations to Officers; and

(d) with all UK and EU legal requirements (including ensuring that any contractors are 
mandatorily excluded from participation in a procurement procedure where Regulation 57 of 
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 applies).”

That, with the exception of Rules 12.2, 20.2 and 3 which are dealt with below, the following 
wording be added to the beginning or end (as appropriate) of any Contract Procedure Rule 
mentioned in the proposed Log of Delegations to Officers at Appendix B:

“(See the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of officers who may action this Rule)” 
 

A new Contract Procedure Rule 9.1A be added as follows:

“Most contracts will be awarded by officers making a decision under delegated authority 
(see the Log of Delegations to Officers).  All such officer decisions must be published 
unless the decision is administrative, minor or not closely connected to the discharge of an 
executive function.  Some decisions will be subject to Call-In.  Where Call-In applies the 
winning contractor must not be advised of the outcome of the process until the Call-In 
period has expired.”

Rule 9.5 be amended to read as follows:

“Subject to complying with Rule 9.1A, prospective candidates must be notified simultaneously in 
writing and as soon as possible of any contracting decision.  If a candidate requests in writing the 
reasons for a contracting decision, the officer must give reasons in writing within 15 days of the 
request.”

Rules 12.2.4 and 12.2.5 be added as follows:
“12.2.4  Where a Framework Agreement is used and the arrangements under that 
Agreement include mini competition, the Log of Delegations to Officers details which 
officers may seek, receive and evaluate quotations/tenders.”
“12.2.5  Most contracts will then be awarded by officers making a decision under delegated 
authority (see the Log of Delegations to Officers).  All such officer decisions must be 
published unless the decision is administrative, minor or not closely connected to the 
discharge of an executive function.  Some decisions will be subject to Call-In.  Where Call-In 

84



applies the winning contractor must not be advised of the outcome of the process until the 
Call-In period has expired.”

Rule 20.2.4 be added as follows:
“20.2.4  Most contracts will be awarded by officers making a decision under delegated 
authority (see the Log of Delegations to Officers).  All such officer decisions must be 
published unless the decision is administrative, minor or not closely connected to the 
discharge of an executive function.  Some decisions will be subject to Call-In.  Where Call-In 
applies the winning contractor must not be advised of the outcome of the process until the 
Call-In period has expired.”

Rule 33 be added as follows:
“33.0  TERMINATION OF CONTRACTS
The Log of Delegations to Officers details which officers may terminate a contract.  Any 
termination must be strictly in accordance with the terms of the contract and subject to 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer and in some cases with the 
relevant portfolio holder.”

85



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Mark Robinson – Portfolio Holder for Governance 

To: Cabinet – 19 March 2019

Author: Kirsty Mallett - Information Governance Officer

Subject: Records Management Policy

Purpose: To consider and approve the Records Management Policy for the Council

Recommendation(s): 

That the Records Management Policy be approved and delegated authority be given to the 
Executive Manager for Governance in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Governance to make minor amendments to the Policy.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1   Section 224 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires the Council to make proper 
arrangements with respect to any documents that belong to or are in the custody of the 
Council or any of its officers.

1.2  The Records Management Policy has been prepared as part of the work to implement the 
requirements of the General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679, the Data Protection 
Act 2018 and associated statutory requirements and guidance.

1.3 The Policy outlines how the Council manages its records, which includes retention and 
disposal.

1.4 The Records Management Policy attached to this report has been prepared in 
consultation with the Executive Manager for Governance/Data Protection Officer and the 
Executive Manager for Information/Senior Information Risk Officer. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To approve the Records Management Policy with or without delegated authority to make 
minor amendments to the Policy.

2.2   Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The Council is required to have a Records Management Policy and Retention Policy in 
place in order to show transparency and to comply with Data Protection legislation.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 A Records Management Policy will help to ensure compliance with the requirements of 
the General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 and Data Protection Act 2018 and 
associated statutory requirements and guidance.

86

Agenda Item 13



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications 
under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.2   Constitution & Legal

5.2.1   Implementation of the Records Management Policy will ensure compliance with the 
Council’s constitutional and Legal requirements.

5.3 Contracts

5.2.1 Transparency is a central principle in the GDPR and this policy will ensure that its 
contractors are aware how the Council manages its records.

5.4   Financial

5.3.1 Adoption of the Policy does not of itself have any financial implications. Clearly, 
compliance with GDPR does have financial implications. 

5.5 Corporate Priorities

5.5.1   To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way.

5.6   Data Protection

5.5.1 A Records Management Policy is required to show transparency under GDPR and the 
Data Protection Act.

5.7 Risk Management 

5.7.1   Having a robust Records Management Policy and associated procedures helps the 
Council to evidence compliance (the ‘accountability principle’ under GDPR). This, together 
with proper use of the policy and procedures, will ensure that our data practices improve 
and our level of risk reduces.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 GDPR – General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer

87

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Name and Post: Kirsty Mallett, Information Governance Officer
Telephone Number: 07970 814444
Email: kirsty.mallett@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A Records Management Policy

88



Records Management Policy
January 2019

r 2019

1

1.0 Introduction
Good records management is at the heart of the Modernising Government agenda. Section 
224 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires the Council to make proper arrangements 
with respect to any documents that belong to or are in the custody of the Council or any of its 
officers.

One of the priorities identified in the Council’s Corporate Plan is to “Ensure that our regulatory 
services are consistent and effective and that the Council is legally compliant”.

The Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) creates a legislative framework for access to all 
public sector information and places a duty on public authorities to publish information in 
accordance with ‘publication schemes’. The FOIA also amends the Public Records Act 1958 
and places obligations on public authorities to maintain their records in accordance with 
the provisions of a Code of Practice on Records Management, issued by the Lord 
Chancellor under Section 46 of the Act. The Code can be found here: 

https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/research-and-reports/1432475/foi-section-
46-code-of-practice-1.pdf

ICO Guidance on the Code can be found here:

https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1624142/section-46-code-of-
practice-records-management-foia-and-eir.pdf

In order for the Council to respond to a request for information in compliance with the 
Code, it is necessary to have effective records management procedures in place.

The General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018 provide greater rights 
to individuals regarding their personal data, including the right to make Data Subject Requests.

This policy should be read in conjunction with the Council’s ICT policies, Data Protection 
Policy and Freedom of Information Policy.

2.0      Aim

The aim of this policy is to support the objectives of the Freedom of Information and Data 
Protection legislation by setting out the practices the Council will follow in relation to 
recorded information which is created, stored, managed, retained and/or disposed of.

This policy will be available to all internal and external stakeholders and will be on the 
Council’s website http://breckland.gov.uk/.

3.0      Scope

Records covered by this policy include all records (irrespective of the medium on or in 
which the information is carried) which belong to or are in the custody of the Council or any 
of its officers and members. This policy will apply to all Council officers, members, 
contractors, partners, consultants and service providers who have access to the Council’s 
records.

RECORDS MANAGEMENT POLICY

89

https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/research-and-reports/1432475/foi-section-46-code-of-practice-1.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/research-and-reports/1432475/foi-section-46-code-of-practice-1.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1624142/section-46-code-of-practice-records-management-foia-and-eir.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1624142/section-46-code-of-practice-records-management-foia-and-eir.pdf
http://breckland.gov.uk/


Records Management Policy
January 2019

r 2019

2

The Council’s archives include:
• records created by the authority and its predecessors in the course of its business;
• ‘public records’ held on behalf of central government (eg register of electors); and
• records given to or purchased by the authority, or deposited with the authority on 

indefinite loan.

Failure of a contractor/partner/consultant/service provider to comply could lead to legal 
action including the cancellation of a contract.

4.0      Objectives

The Council will ensure that information is created, stored, managed, retained and/or 
disposed of in conformity with the law and the Lord Chancellor’s Code of Practice on Records 
Management, as follows:

- secure a coordinated approach to the management of information
- ensure relevant staff understand their responsibilities and hold the 

necessary skills
- ensure business information is managed effectively throughout the 

organisation by providing an authoritative statement on the management of 
records

- ensure staff are appropriately qualified, trained or experienced and that all 
staff understand the need for record management

- ensure information can be identified and retrieved when required by providing 
a well-structured record keeping system

- ensure authentic records are maintained over time by providing appropriate 
protection of records throughout their life cycle

- ensure selection and disposal decisions can be explained by careful 
documentation of the appraisal and disposal of records

- ensure access decisions are documented so that they are consistent, and can 
be explained and referred to

- identify whether information is being managed effectively through monitoring 
of compliance with record management policies and procedures

5.0 Policy Statement

The Council will promote openness and transparency of decision making by the Council, 
by ensuring that information is easily retrievable and properly documented. In accordance 
with all statutory requirements, the appropriate technical, organisational and human resource 
elements will be made available so the right information is:

• captured, stored, retrieved, and destroyed or preserved according to need;
• fully exploited to meet current and future needs, and to support change; and
• accessible to those who need to make use of it.

6.0      Records Management

Records created or received by the Council in the transaction of business are the property 
of the Council, regardless of the physical location of the record. Such records shall be used 
solely for the conduct of the Council’s business and not for any other purpose, unless 
otherwise agreed by the Monitoring Officer. The provisions of the Data Protection Act 2018 
(DPA) and the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) will be adhered to in relation to 
personal data.

Any corporate records management systems will be implemented taking account of the 

90



Records Management Policy
January 2019

r 2019

3

Lord Chancellor’s Code of Practice under Section 46 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000, 
which focuses on how information is acquired and how it should be organised and retrieved 
so that responses to FOI requests can be dealt with quickly and efficiently. 

The Council will hold information as long as necessary to enable it to perform its functions. 
Every effort will be made to ensure that the information is accurate and up-to-date and that 
inaccuracies are corrected quickly.

7.0 Record Retention

In certain circumstances it is necessary to retain records in order to fulfil statutory or regulatory 
requirements and also to meet operational needs. Retention of specific records may also be 
useful to evidence events or agreements in the case of disputes, and also to preserve 
information which has historic value. 

A record retention schedule is incorporated into the Council’s Information Assets Register and 
is an essential component of an efficient and effective records management function. The 
record retention schedule ensures council records are kept for as long as they are needed to 
meet business needs and to comply with legal requirements, and are then disposed of securely. 

Service managers, or officers with delegated information management responsibilities (Data 
Protection Leads), hold and maintain the record retention schedule for their area within their 
service’s Information Asset Register.  The Council’s Legal Services Team will also hold a copy 
centrally and any changes to a retention schedule must be communicated to Legal Services. 

Retention schedules should be reviewed annually to consider the need for any new information 
management technology, for example, new IT, devices or storage capacity to allow the 
appropriate storage and destruction of documents. 

The record retention schedule provides details of the storage of council records. Service areas 
must ensure that electronic and physical records are kept in a secure storage area and 
referenced appropriately to ensure they are kept for the required retention period and not 
accidentally deleted or destroyed. This will allow for easy retrieval to meet business 
requirements or Freedom of Information and Subject Access requests. 

The Council holds a number of records which are considered of historical value, service areas 
should consider offering items of historic value to the Norfolk Records office through Norfolk 
County Council. 

8.0 Record disposal

When records are no longer required for business or statutory purposes, the service area must 
consider appropriate disposal based on the format of the record and whether or not the record 
contains confidential or restricted information.

The table below should be used as a guide to selecting an appropriate method for disposing of 
a record:

Media type Suggested method of destruction

Paper records Recycled unless contains personal data 
and/or is considered confidential. Shredded 
if the record contains personal data/ 
confidential records.

Electronic storage – ICT servers Deleted from live storage and records will be 
housed in archived backup form as per the 
backup and replication procedures.

91



Records Management Policy
January 2019

r 2019

4

Electronic storage – hard drives, USB, CDs Provide to ICT for environmentally friendly 
disposal or for secure destruction if the 
electronic storage contains personal data 
and/or confidential records.

Microfilm or other small-format physical 
storage

Recycled unless contains personal data 
and/or is considered confidential. Shredded 
if the record contains personal data/ 
confidential records.

Magnetic tape (computer data or 
audio/video tape)

Recycled unless contains personal data 
and/or is considered confidential. Shredded 
if the record contains personal data/ 
confidential records.

A record of destruction must be retained by the service area. The retention schedule for the 
service area is considered by the council to be a suitable record of destruction.

Premature destruction of documents could result in inability to defend claims against the 
council, operational difficulties and failure to comply with the Freedom of Information Act 2000, 
the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulations.

Advice should be sought from the Legal Services Team if in doubt regarding the appropriate 
time to destroy or dispose of a record. Where appropriate, advice will be sought from a third-
party body or similar expert.

9.0      Responsibilities

Overall responsibility for the records management lies with the Council’s Executive 
Management Team who, in conjunction with the Senior Information Risk Officer will:

• be aware of the authority’s current compliance status with the Lord Chancellor’s 
Code of Practice on Records Management;

• identify and monitor problem areas and risk, and recommend solutions;
• promote  clear  and  effective  procedures  and  offer  guidance  to  staff  on  record 

management issues;
• ensure the provision of suitable training for staff and members;
• develop best practice guidelines;
• carry out compliance checks to ensure adherence with this policy.

Day to day responsibility for administration and compliance with this policy is delegated to 
Service Managers, who will:

• ensure that the data they hold is kept accurate, up-to-date, and  
not held for any longer than is necessary for the purpose which 
it was collected and ensure this is accurately recorded within 
their service’s Information Asset Register;

• monitor compliance with this policy and associated procedures;
• implement security requirements and access rights to documents and records;
• coordinate the proactive development of the Publication Scheme, in liaison with the 

Statutory Information Officer and the Corporate Improvement and Performance Team.
• Responsibility for the operational aspect of record management may be delegated by 

the Service Manager to a designated Data Protection Lead where required.

The Data Protection Officer will provide advice and guidance in respect of compliance with 
GDPR and the DPA.

The Statutory Information Officer will provide advice and guidance in respect of compliance 

92



Records Management Policy
January 2019

r 2019

5

with FOIA requests.

The Senior Information Risk Officer will be responsible for ensuring that this policy is 
implemented.

All staff and members must comply with this policy and are responsible for ensuring that:

• all information they hold, regardless of the medium, is kept secure, and
• personal information is processed only in accordance with the law and the Council’s 

Data Protection Policy and that such information is not, in particular, disclosed 
unlawfully to any unauthorised third party.

10.0    Publication Scheme

As required by the FOIA, the Council has adopted and maintains a Publication Scheme 
as a guide to the information that it holds which is publicly available. Any individual or 
organisation who requests it will be informed whether the Council holds the information and, 
subject to exceptions, be supplied with it. The Publication Scheme is available on the 
Council’s website at www.breckland.gov.uk.

11.0     Complaints

The Council’s ‘Compliments and Complaints Procedure’ (available on the Council’s website) 
will be applied in the event of any complaint received about requests for access to information 
under the FOIA, DPA or GDPR. If the complainant is still unhappy, they will be informed of 
their right to complain to the Information Commissioner, who will decide whether the request 
has been handled properly.

12.0    Policy Review

This policy will be managed and reviewed annually. Reviews will be subject to scrutiny and, 
from time to time, updates and re-issues will be circulated. However, the policy will be 
reviewed sooner if a weakness in the policy is highlighted, in the case of new risks, and/or 
changes in legislation.

93

http://www.breckland.gov.uk./

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Q3 2018-19 Performance Overview Report
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 3 2018-19 Performance Overview Report

	9 Investment Strategy & Prospectus 2019-20
	Invest In Breckland Prospectus
	BrecklandCouncilInvestmentStrategy1920 (002)

	10 NNDR Discretionary relief
	11 Quarter 3 Financial Performance Report
	Appendix A for Quarter 3 Financial Performance Report

	12 Contract Procedure Rules
	13 Records Management Policy
	Appendix 1 Records Management Policy


